## MODULAR RELATIONS INVOLVING GENERALIZED DIGAMMA FUNCTIONS

#### ATUL DIXIT, SUMUKHA SATHYANARAYANA, AND N. GURU SHARAN

ABSTRACT. Generalized digamma functions  $\psi_k(x)$ , studied by Ramanujan, Deninger, Dilcher, Kanemitsu, Ishibashi etc., appear as the Laurent series coefficients of the zeta function associated to an indefinite quadratic form. In this paper, a modular relation of the form  $F_k(\alpha) = F_k(1/\alpha)$  containing infinite series of  $\psi_k(x)$ , or, equivalently, between the generalized Stieltjes constants  $\gamma_k(x)$ , is obtained for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . When k=0, it reduces to a famous transformation given on page 220 of Ramanujan's Lost Notebook. For k=1, an integral containing Riemann's  $\Xi$ -function, and corresponding to the aforementioned modular relation, is also obtained along with its asymptotic expansions as  $\alpha \to 0$  and  $\alpha \to \infty$ . Carlitz-type and Guinand-type finite modular relations involving  $\psi_j^{(m)}(x), 0 \le j \le k, m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , are also derived, thereby extending previous results on the digamma function  $\psi(x)$ . The extension of Guinand's result for  $\psi_j^{(m)}(x), m \ge 2$ , involves an interesting combinatorial sum h(r) over integer partitions of 2r into exactly r parts. This sum plays a crucial role in an inversion formula needed for this extension. This formula has connection with the inversion formula for the inverse of a triangular Toeplitz matrix. The modular relation for  $\psi_j'(x)$  is subtle and requires delicate analysis.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	$^{2}$
2. Main results	6
2.1. An extension of Ramanujan's transformation for generalized digamma functions	7
2.2. Asymptotic expansion of a new Ξ-function integral	7
2.3. Carlitz-type transformations	8
2.4. A fundamental inversion formula	8
2.5. Modular relations involving the derivatives of first $k$ generalized digamma functions	9
2.6. Guinand-type transformations	9
2.6.1. The case $z \in \mathbb{N}, z > 2$	9
2.6.2. The curious case of $z = 2$	9
3. Preliminaries	10
4. Proofs of the extension of Ramanujan's formula (1.11) and its analogue	11
4.1. Proof of the asymptotic expansion of the Ξ-function integral	16
5. Proofs of Carlitz-type transformations	19
6. Proof of the inversion formula	21
7. Combinatorics meets Special Functions: Proof of Theorem 2.8	23
8. Proofs of Guinand-type transformations	23
8.1. The case $z \in \mathbb{N}, z > 2$	25
8.2. The case $z = 2$	25
9. Concluding remarks	30
D of or on a co	21

<sup>2020</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 11M35, 33B15; Secondary 15B05, 41A60. Keywords and phrases. Ramanujan's transformation, generalized digamma functions, Stieltjes constants, modular relation, inversion formula for triangular Toeplitz matrix.

#### 1. Introduction

Let

$$\mathfrak{D}' := \{ \eta : |\arg(\eta)| \le \pi - \Delta, \Delta > 0 \}. \tag{1.1}$$

The Hurwitz zeta function  $\zeta(z,x)$  is defined [45, p. 36] for  $\operatorname{Re}(z) > 1$  and  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$  by  $\zeta(z,x) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+x)^{-z}$ . It can be analytically continued to the entire z-complex plane except for a simple pole at z=1 with residue 1, and it is well-known that  $\zeta(z,1) = \zeta(z)$ , the Riemann zeta function. The Laurent series expansion of  $\zeta(z,x)$  around z=1 is given by

$$\zeta(z,x) = \frac{1}{z-1} + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k \gamma_k(x)}{k!} (z-1)^k,$$
(1.2)

where Berndt [4, Theorem 1] showed that

$$\gamma_k(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \sum_{j=0}^n \frac{\log^k(j+x)}{j+x} - \frac{\log^{k+1}(n+x)}{k+1} \right).$$
 (1.3)

These  $\gamma_k(x)$  called the generalized Stieltjes constants. Clearly, letting x = 1 in (1.2) and (1.3) respectively gives the Laurent series expansion of  $\zeta(z)$  and the corresponding Stieltjes constants, that is,  $\gamma_k(1) = \gamma_k$ .

The literature on generalized Stieltjes constants is vast. We mention only a few of the works on the topic. Williams and Zhang [47, Theorem 1] generalized Berndt's aforementioned result, and with the help of which they could estimate  $\gamma_k(x)$  for  $x \in (0,1]$ ; see [47, Theorem 3]. Coffey [11] gave an addition formula for  $\gamma_k(x)$  whose special case [11, Corollary 2] (see (7.3) below) we will use in the sequel. Very recently, Prévost [40, Theorem 2] derived a general formula for  $\gamma_k(x)$  involving Stirling numbers of the first kind and depending on the degrees of numerator and denominator of the Padé approximant used for approximating  $e^{-x}$ , and, as an application, obtained a new representation for the first Stieltjes constant [40, Proposition 1], namely,  $\gamma_1 = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \zeta'(2j+1)/(2j+1)$ . Blagouchine [7] undertook a detailed historical survey on  $\gamma_k$  and  $\gamma_k(x)$ , and, in particular, gave an elegant result to compute  $\gamma_1(x)$  for  $x \in \mathbb{Q}$ . A short proof of this result was later given by Chatterjee and Khurana [10]. There have been several studies on the asymptotic analysis of  $\gamma_k(x)$  and on developing numerical methods for their efficient calculation; see, for example, the recent preprint of Tyagi [46] and the references therein.

Even though the generalized Stieltjes constants have received a lot of attention in the recent years, except for a few studies [31], [33], they have not been explored much through their connection with higher analogues of the Euler gamma function. This connection is now explained.

For a non-negative integer k and  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ , Dilcher [14] defined the generalized gamma function  $\Gamma_k(x)$  by

$$\Gamma_k(x) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{\log^{k+1}(n)}{k+1}x\right) \prod_{j=1}^n \exp\left(\frac{\log^{k+1}(j)}{k+1}\right)}{\prod_{j=0}^n \exp\left(\frac{\log^{k+1}(j+z)}{k+1}\right)}.$$

Comparing the above limit with the limit representation of  $\Gamma(x)$  [43, Equation (3.9)], it is clear that  $\Gamma_0(x) = \Gamma(x)$ . As said by Dilcher [14, p. 56], the generalized gamma function  $\Gamma_k(x)$  relates to the Stieltjes constant  $\gamma_k$  in the same way as the Euler Gamma function  $\Gamma(x)$  relates to the Euler constant  $\gamma(=\gamma_0)$ .

Dilcher derived various properties of  $\Gamma_k(x)$  in [14]. At the end of his paper, he considered the logarithmic derivative of  $\Gamma_k(x)$  and proved that [14, Proposition 10]

$$\psi_k(x) := \frac{\Gamma'_k(x)}{\Gamma_k(x)} = -\gamma_k - \frac{\log^k(x)}{x} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \frac{\log^k(n+x)}{n+x} - \frac{\log^k(n)}{n} \right), \tag{1.4}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Berndt includes the factor  $\frac{(-1)^k}{k!}$  in the definition of  $\gamma_k(z)$  and does not have it in the summand of (1.2) as has been done here.

so that  $\psi_0(x) = \psi(x)$ , the digamma function. Note that letting x = 1 in (1.3) and replacing n by n - 1 yields

$$\gamma_k := \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\log^k(j)}{j} - \frac{\log^{k+1}(n)}{k+1} \right).$$

Along with (1.4) and the fact [14, Lemma 1] that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \log^{k+1}(n+x) - \log^{k+1}(n) \right) = 0 \quad (x \in \mathfrak{D}'),$$

this implies that

$$\psi_k(x) = -\gamma_k(x). \tag{1.5}$$

This was also shown by Shirasaka [42, p. 136]. Thus the generalized Stieltjes constant  $\gamma_k(x)$  is simply the additive inverse of the logarithmic derivative of  $\Gamma_k(x)$ , or, in other words, of the generalized digamma function  $\psi_k(x)$ .

Ramanujan briefly treated  $\psi_k(x)$  in Entry 22 of Chapter 8 of his second notebook; see [5]. Also, ten years before Dilcher's paper [14] appeared, Deninger [13] essentially studied the function  $\log \Gamma_1(x)$  in conjunction with his goal of obtaining an analogue of the Chowla-Selberg formula for real quadratic fields. In his terminology, let  $R: \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$  denote the function uniquely defined by the difference equation

$$R(x+1) - R(x) = \log^2(x)$$
  $(R(1) = -\zeta''(0)).$  (1.6)

As given in [13, Remark 2.4], the function R(x) can be analytically continued to  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ . Then from [14, Equation (2.1)] and [13, Equation (2.3.1)], it can be observed that Dilcher's  $\Gamma_1(x)$  is related to Deninger's R(x) by<sup>2</sup>

$$\log(\Gamma_1(x)) = \frac{1}{2}(R(x) + \zeta''(0)).$$

Languasco and Righi [34] have termed  $\exp(R(x))$  as the Ramanujan-Deninger gamma function. For x > 0, they also give a fast algorithm to compute this function.

Kanemitsu [33] extensively studied the higher order analogue of R(x) (briefly alluded to by Deninger in [13, p. 173]), namely, the solution of the difference equation

$$R_k(x+1) - R_k(x) = \log^k(x)$$
  $(k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}),$  (1.7)

which is convex on some interval  $(A, \infty)$ , A > 0, and satisfies the initial condition  $R_k(1) = (-1)^{k+1} \zeta^{(k)}(0)$ . In view of (1.6), this trivially implies  $R_2(x) = R(x)$ . He found its Weierstrass representation to be [33, Equation (2.8)]<sup>3</sup>

$$R_k(x) = (-1)^{k+1} \zeta^{(k)}(0) - k\gamma_{k-1}x - \log^k(x) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \log^k(x+n) - \log^k(n) - kx \frac{\log^{k-1}(n)}{n} \right),$$

which, in view of (1.4), implies [31, p. 78]

$$\psi_k(x) = \frac{1}{k+1} R'_{k+1}(x). \tag{1.8}$$

The functional equation satisfied by  $\psi_k(x)$  is [14, Equation (8.2)]

$$\psi_k(1+x) = \psi_k(x) + \frac{\log^k(x)}{x},$$
(1.9)

which can be easily seen from (1.7) and (1.8). It should be noted that  $\psi_k(x)$  is analytic in  $\mathfrak{D}'$ , where  $\mathfrak{D}'$  is defined in (1.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>By analytic continuation, Equation (2.3.1) from [13] is valid for  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>the k in front of  $\gamma_{k-1}$  is missing in [33, Equation (2.8)], however, this is corrected in [31, p. 77].

The function  $\psi_k(x)$  turns up in a variety of places in number theory. Ishibashi [32] evaluated the Laurent series coefficients of a zeta function associated to an indefinite quadratic form in terms of his  $k^{\text{th}}$  order Herglotz function which he defined for x > 0 by

$$\Phi_k(x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{k\psi_{k-1}(nx) - \log^k(nx)}{n}.$$

The Herglotz-Zagier function  $\Phi_1(x)$  and its various generalizations such as the above are themselves very useful in number theory, in particular, in Kronecker limit formulas. See [19] and the references therein.

Recently, Banerjee, Gupta and the first author encountered an infinite series consisting of  $\psi(x)$  and  $\psi_1(x)$  while obtaining an explicit transformation [3, Theorem 1.1] for the Lambert series of logarithm, that is, for  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\log(n)}{e^{ny}-1}$ , where Re(y) > 0. Using this transformation, they found its asymptotic expansion as  $y \to 0$  and further used it to find the complete asymptotic expansion of the integral

$$\int_0^\infty \zeta\left(\frac{1}{2} - it\right) \zeta'\left(\frac{1}{2} + it\right) e^{-\delta t} dt$$

as  $\delta \to 0$ .

In order to be able to state the main goal of this paper, we now turn our attention to a beautiful modular relation found on page 220 of Ramanujan's Lost Notebook [6].

Let  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta > 0$  be such that  $\alpha\beta = 1$ , and, for x > 0, let

$$\phi(x) := \psi(x) + \frac{1}{2x} - \log(x). \tag{1.10}$$

Then Ramanujan claimed that

$$\sqrt{\alpha} \left\{ \frac{\gamma - \log(2\pi\alpha)}{2\alpha} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi(n\alpha) \right\} = \sqrt{\beta} \left\{ \frac{\gamma - \log(2\pi\beta)}{2\beta} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi(n\beta) \right\}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{\pi^{3/2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left| \Xi\left(\frac{1}{2}t\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-1+it}{4}\right) \right|^{2} \frac{\cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t\log\alpha\right)}{1+t^{2}} dt, \qquad (1.11)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Xi(t) &= \xi \left(\frac{1}{2} + it\right), \\ \xi(s) &= \frac{1}{2} s(s-1) \pi^{-\frac{s}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{s}{2}\right) \zeta(s), \end{split}$$

are Riemann's functions [45, p. 16].

By a modular relation, we mean a transformation of the form F(-1/z) = F(z), where  $z \in \mathbb{H}$  (the upper-half plane). The F in such a relation may not be governed by  $z \to z+1$ . Any such transformation can be equivalently put in the form  $\mathscr{F}(\alpha) = \mathscr{F}(\beta)$ , where  $\alpha, \beta$  are such that  $\text{Re}(\alpha) > 0$ ,  $\text{Re}(\beta) > 0$  and  $\alpha\beta = 1$ . See [18] for more details.

Recently, Gupta and Kumar [28] showed that (1.11) lives in the realms of the theory of Herglotz function  $\Phi_1(x)$ . For a comprehensive survey on various extensions and generalizations of this transformation, the reader is referred to [24].

Since  $\psi_0(x) = \psi(x)$ , a natural question that arises now is, do the generalized digamma functions  $\psi_k(x), k > 0$ , also satisfy a modular relation of the form in (1.11)?

We answer this question affirmatively in Theorem 2.1. The interesting thing here is that for k > 0, the modular relation involves not just an infinite series of  $\psi_k$  but rather a weighted finite sum involving infinite series of  $\psi_0, \psi_1, \dots, \psi_k$ . Obtaining a modular relation involving just  $\psi_k$  for k > 0 looks inconceivable. For k = 1, we also obtain an analogue of the integral involving the Riemann  $\Xi(t)$  function in (1.11) (see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>By analytic continuation, the result holds more generally for  $Re(\alpha) > 0$  and  $Re(\beta) > 0$ .

Theorem 2.2). In principle, we can obtain such an integral for a general k > 1 as well, however, we refrain from doing so as the form of the integrand soon becomes unwieldy.

It is known that the integral in (1.11) admits the following asymptotic expansion as  $\alpha \to \infty$ , namely, [37, Equation (1.5)] (see also [21, Corollary 1.7] with w = 0 or [23, Theorem 1.10] with z = 0)

$$\frac{1}{\pi^{3/2}} \int_0^\infty \left| \Xi\left(\frac{1}{2}t\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-1+it}{4}\right) \right|^2 \frac{\cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t\log\alpha\right)}{1+t^2} dt$$

$$\sim -\sqrt{\alpha} \left(\frac{\gamma - \log(2\pi\alpha)}{2\alpha}\right) - 2\sqrt{\alpha} \sum_{k=1}^\infty \frac{(-1)^k}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2k}} \Gamma(2k) \zeta^2(2k). \tag{1.12}$$

In Theorem 2.3, we obtain the corresponding asymptotic expansion of the integral involving the Riemann  $\Xi$ -function associated with the modular relation involving  $\psi(x)$  and  $\psi_1(x)$ .

In [26], Guinand obtained modular relations for higher derivatives of  $\psi(x)$ . Indeed, as shown in [16, Equation (3.24)], Equation (9) from [26] can be written in the form

$$\alpha^{\frac{z}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \psi^{(z-1)}(1+j\alpha) = \beta^{\frac{z}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \psi^{(z-1)}(1+j\beta), \tag{1.13}$$

where  $\alpha\beta = 1$  and  $z \in \mathbb{N}, z > 2$ . Guinand [26, p. 4] also derived the modular relation involving the first derivative of  $\psi(x)$  which can be again reformulated in the form

$$\alpha \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \psi'(1+j\alpha) - \frac{1}{j\alpha} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \log(\alpha) = \beta \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \psi'(1+j\beta) - \frac{1}{j\beta} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \log(\beta), \tag{1.14}$$

where, again,  $\alpha\beta = 1$ .

The second goal of this paper is obtain generalizations of (1.13) and (1.14) for  $\psi_k$  for k > 0. For a natural number z greater than 2, the generalization of (1.13) derived in Theorem 2.11 involves the interesting function h(r) which is a sum over all non-negative integer solutions of  $1b_1 + ... + (r+1)b_{r+1} = 2r$ ,  $b_1 + ... + b_{r+1} = r$ , that is, over all integer partitions of 2r into r parts. In fact, this function turns up in a fundamental inversion formula that is of independent interest. See Theorem 2.7. Even though this formula seems to be equivalent to the inversion formula for the inverse of a triangular Toeplitz matrix [35, Corollary 1], the version we derive here is, to the best of our knowledge, new. Our proof of this inversion formula is also new. In the course of proving results such as Theorem 2.11, the inversion formula also gives novel results such as (see (7.4) below)

$$\zeta^{(\ell)}(n,x) = \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{\ell+r+1}}{s^{r+1}(n,1)} \frac{\ell!}{(\ell-r)!} h(r) \psi_{\ell-r}^{(n-1)}(x),$$

where  $n \in \mathbb{N}, n > 1$ ,  $\ell \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , h(r) is defined in (2.13), and s(n, m) denotes the Stirling number of the first kind. The special case  $\ell = 0$  of this result is well-known; see, for example, [16, Equation (3.22)].

The generalization of (1.14) given in Theorem 2.12 corresponds to the "z=2" case of Theorem 2.11. Of course, the series in Theorem 2.11 upon letting z=2 do not converge, and one has to separately handle this delicate case. This curious case requires intermediate results which are of independent interest, for example, see lemmas 8.1, 8.2 and 8.3.

The third goal of this paper is to give finite analogues of all of the above results. Guinand [27] obtained some finite identities related to Poisson's summation formula. Carlitz [8] found an easier way to obtain finite identities of Guinand type by considering a function that satisfies the multiplication formula

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} f\left(x + \frac{j}{n}\right) = C_n f(nx) \qquad (n \in \mathbb{N}), \tag{1.15}$$

where  $C_n$  is independent of x but may depend on f. As shown by Carlitz in one of his other papers [9], the above equation implies the symmetric formula

$$C_n \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f\left(nx + \frac{nj}{m}\right) = C_m \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} f\left(mx + \frac{mj}{n}\right),$$

Since  $\zeta(z,x)$  satisfies (1.15) with  $C_n = n^z$ , Carlitz derived the transformation [8, Equation (3.10)]

$$n^{z} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \zeta\left(z, nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right) = m^{z} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \zeta\left(z, mx + \frac{m(j-1)}{n}\right). \tag{1.16}$$

This transformation is our starting point towards obtaining finite analogues of our aforementioned modular relations involving infinite series of  $\psi_k, k \geq 0$ , and their derivatives. See Theorems 2.5, 2.8 and their corollaries.

### 2. Main results

The generalization of (1.11), wherein the digamma function  $\psi(x)$  is replaced by the Hurwitz zeta function  $\zeta(z,x)$ , and which plays a key role in obtaining some of our results, is the following one from [16, Theorem 1.4]:

Let 0 < Re z < 2. Define  $\varphi(z, x)$  by

$$\varphi(z,x) := \zeta(z,x) - \frac{1}{2}x^{-z} + \frac{x^{1-z}}{1-z},$$

If  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are such that  $Re(\alpha) > 0$  and  $Re(\beta) > 0^5$  such that  $\alpha\beta = 1$ , then

$$\alpha^{\frac{z}{2}} \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi(z, n\alpha) - \frac{\zeta(z)}{2\alpha^{z}} - \frac{\zeta(z-1)}{\alpha(z-1)} \right) = \beta^{\frac{z}{2}} \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi(z, n\beta) - \frac{\zeta(z)}{2\beta^{z}} - \frac{\zeta(z-1)}{\beta(z-1)} \right)$$

$$= \frac{8(4\pi)^{\frac{z-4}{2}}}{\Gamma(z)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \omega(z, t) \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t \log \alpha\right) dt, \tag{2.1}$$

where

$$\omega(z,t) := \frac{1}{(z^2+t^2)} \Gamma\left(\frac{z-2+it}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{z-2-it}{4}\right) \Xi\left(\frac{t+i(z-1)}{2}\right) \Xi\left(\frac{t-i(z-1)}{2}\right). \tag{2.2}$$

The integral in (2.1) was considered by Ramanujan [41] who obtained alternate integral representations for it in different regions of the z-complex plane. Regarding the special case z = 1 of this integral, Hardy [30] said, "the properties of this integral resemble those of one which Mr. Littlewood and I have used, in a paper to be published shortly in Acta Mathematica to prove that<sup>6</sup>

$$\int_{-T}^{T} \left| \zeta \left( \frac{1}{2} + ti \right) \right|^{2} dt \sim \frac{2}{\pi} T \log T \quad (T \to \infty)^{"}.$$

Now (1.2) and (1.5) suggest that differentiating both sides of the first equality in (2.1) k times with respect to z and then letting  $z \to 1$  might lead to a modular relation involving the generalized digamma functions. That this is indeed the case is shown in the following sub-section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Even though the result is stated only for positive numbers  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , it can be easily seen to be true for  $\text{Re}(\alpha) > 0$  and  $\text{Re}(\beta) > 0$  by analytic continuation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>There is a typo in this formula in that  $\pi$  should not be present.

2.1. An extension of Ramanujan's transformation for generalized digamma functions. Before giving the main result, we record the following asymptotic expansion of  $\psi_j(x)$  as  $x \to \infty$ , Re(x) > 0, given in Proposition 3 of [11]:

$$\psi_j(x) \sim \frac{\log^{j+1}(x)}{j+1} - \frac{1}{2x}\log^j(x) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2m}}{(2m)!} x^{-2m} \sum_{t=0}^{j} {j \choose t} t! s(2m, t+1) \log^{j-t}(x), \tag{2.3}$$

where  $B_m$  denotes  $m^{\text{th}}$  Bernoulli number.

**Theorem 2.1.** For Re(x) > 0, define

$$\mathscr{F}_{k}(x) := \sqrt{x} \sum_{j=0}^{k} (-1)^{j+1} \binom{k}{j} \log^{k-j}(\sqrt{x}) \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \psi_{j}(nx) + \frac{\log^{j}(nx)}{2nx} - \frac{\log^{j+1}(nx)}{j+1} \right) + \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} \binom{j}{\ell} \frac{\gamma_{\ell} \log^{j-\ell}(x)}{2x} - \frac{\log^{j+1}(x) + 2(-1)^{j+1} \zeta^{(j+1)}(0)}{2(j+1)x} \right\}. \tag{2.4}$$

Then for any  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  with  $Re(\alpha) > 0$ ,  $Re(\beta) > 0$  and  $\alpha\beta = 1$ , we have

$$\mathscr{F}_k(\alpha) = \mathscr{F}_k(\beta). \tag{2.5}$$

When k = 1, we explicitly obtain and state in the following theorem the integral containing the Riemann  $\Xi$ -function equal to each of the expressions in the above modular relation.

**Theorem 2.2.** Let Re(x) > 0. Let  $\phi(x)$  be defined in (1.10). Moreover, define

$$\phi_1(x) := \psi_1(x) + \frac{1}{2x} \log(x) - \frac{1}{2} \log^2(x),$$

$$\mathscr{F}_1(x) := \sqrt{x} \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_1(nx) + \frac{\log^2(2\pi) - (\gamma - \log(x))^2}{4x} + \frac{\pi^2}{48x} \right\} - \frac{\sqrt{x} \log(x)}{2} \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi(nx) + \frac{\gamma - \log(2\pi x)}{2x} \right\},$$
(2.6)

and

$$\mathscr{I}(x) := \frac{2}{(4\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int_0^\infty \left| \Gamma\left(\frac{-1+it}{4}\right) \Xi\left(\frac{t}{2}\right) \right|^2 \times \left\{ \psi\left(\frac{-1+it}{4}\right) + \psi\left(\frac{-1-it}{4}\right) - \frac{8}{1+t^2} + 2\log(4\pi) + 4\gamma \right\} \frac{\cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t\log x\right)}{1+t^2} dt. \quad (2.7)$$

For  $\alpha, \beta$  such that  $Re(\alpha) > 0$ ,  $Re(\beta) > 0$  and  $\alpha\beta = 1$ , we have

$$\mathscr{F}_1(\alpha) = \mathscr{F}_1(\beta) = \mathscr{I}(\alpha) = \mathscr{I}(\beta).$$
 (2.8)

**Remark 1.** For the expression on the right-hand side of (2.6), we use the notation  $\mathscr{F}_1$  because it is the k=1 case of the function  $\mathscr{F}_k$  defined in (2.4), as can be seen by employing (4.28).

# 2.2. Asymptotic expansion of a new $\Xi$ -function integral.

**Theorem 2.3.** Let  $\mathscr{I}(\alpha)$  be defined in (2.7). Let  $\mathfrak{D} = \{ \eta \in \mathbb{C} : |\arg(\eta)| < \pi/2 \}$ . As  $\alpha \to \infty$  along any path in  $\mathfrak{D}$ ,

$$\mathcal{I}(\alpha) \sim \frac{-1}{4\sqrt{\alpha}} \left( \gamma + \log(2\pi) \right) \left( \gamma - \log(2\pi\alpha) \right) + \frac{\pi^2}{48\sqrt{\alpha}} + 2\sqrt{\alpha} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2)\zeta^2(2m+2)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \left( -\frac{1}{2}\log(\alpha) + \gamma + \psi(2m+2) + \frac{\zeta'(2m+2)}{\zeta(2m+2)} \right). \tag{2.9}$$

Moreover, the invariance  $\mathscr{I}(\alpha) = \mathscr{I}(1/\alpha)$  shows that as  $\alpha \to 0$ ,  $\mathscr{I}(\alpha)$  is asymptotic to the expression obtained by replacing  $\alpha$  on the right-hand side of (2.9) by  $1/\alpha$ .

The above result has a nice application in that it can be used to get the asymptotic behavior of  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_1(nx)$  as  $x \to 0$  and  $x \to \infty$ , which is recorded in the following corollary.

**Corollary 2.4.** Let  $\phi_1(x)$  and  $\mathfrak{D}$  be defined in Theorems 2.2 and 2.3 respectively. As  $\alpha \to 0$  along any path in  $\mathfrak{D}$ ,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_1(n\alpha) \sim \frac{\pi^2}{48} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) - \frac{1}{4\alpha} \left( \gamma + \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{\alpha}\right) \right) \left( \alpha \left( \gamma - \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{\alpha}\right) \right) - \gamma + \log(2\pi\alpha) \right)$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2) \zeta^2(2m+2)}{(2\pi)^{2m+2}} \left( \gamma + \psi(2m+2) + \frac{\zeta'(2m+2)}{\zeta(2m+2)} \right) \alpha^{2m+1}.$$
 (2.10)

Also, as  $\alpha \to \infty$  along any path in  $\mathfrak{D}$ 

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \phi_1(n\alpha) \sim 2\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2)\zeta^2(2m+2)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \left( -\log(\alpha) + \gamma + \psi(2m+2) + \frac{\zeta'(2m+2)}{\zeta(2m+2)} \right). \tag{2.11}$$

2.3. Carlitz-type transformations.

**Theorem 2.5.** Let  $\mathfrak{D}'$  be defined in (1.1). For  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  and  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$n\left\{\sum_{\ell=0}^{k}(-1)^{\ell}\binom{k}{\ell}\log^{k-\ell}(n)\sum_{j=1}^{m}\psi_{\ell}\left(nx+\frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right)-\frac{1}{k+1}m\log^{k+1}(n)\right\}$$

$$=m\left\{\sum_{\ell=0}^{k}(-1)^{\ell}\binom{k}{\ell}\log^{k-\ell}(m)\sum_{j=1}^{n}\psi_{\ell}\left(mx+\frac{m(j-1)}{n}\right)-\frac{1}{k+1}n\log^{k+1}(m)\right\}.$$
(2.12)

Corollary 2.6. Let  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ . For any  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$n\left[\sum_{j=1}^{m}\psi\left(nx+\frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right)+m\log(m)\right]=m\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n}\psi\left(mx+\frac{m(j-1)}{n}\right)+n\log(n)\right].$$

The above corollary can be viewed as a finite analogue of Ramanujan's transformation (1.11). Guinand essentially derived it; see [26, Equation (8)] for more details.

2.4. A fundamental inversion formula. Inversion formulas are extremely useful in combinatorics and number theory. In what follows, we state a fundamental inversion formula which will help us realize our objective of finding modular relations between derivatives of a fixed order of  $\psi(x), \psi_1(x), \cdots, \psi_k(x)$  for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Theorem 2.7.** Let f, g and s be arithmetic functions with  $s(1) \neq 0$  such that for  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ ,

$$g(k) = \sum_{r=0}^{k} s(k-r+1)f(r).$$

Then,

$$f(k) = \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{(-1)^r}{s^{r+1}(1)} h(r)g(k-r),$$

where

$$h(r) = \sum_{i=1}^{r+1} (-1)^{b_1} \prod_{i=1}^{r+1} s^{b_i}(i) \frac{(r-b_1)!}{b_2! \dots b_{r+1}!},$$
(2.13)

where the sum runs over all non-negative integer solutions of  $1b_1 + ... + (r+1)b_{r+1} = 2r$ ,  $b_1 + ... + b_{r+1} = r$ .

The proof is a nice application of mathematical induction.

# 2.5. Modular relations involving the derivatives of first k generalized digamma functions.

**Theorem 2.8.** Let  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{N}$ , z > 1, and  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ . For any non-negative integer k,

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)^{\frac{-z}{2}} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{r}}{(\ell-r)!} \frac{h(r)}{s^{r}(z,1)} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)} \left(nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right) \\
= \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!} \left(\frac{n}{m}\right)^{\frac{-z}{2}} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{r}}{(\ell-r)!} \frac{h(r)}{s^{r}(z,1)} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)} \left(mx + \frac{m(j-1)}{n}\right), \tag{2.14}$$

where h(r), defined in Theorem 2.7, is considered with s(i) = s(z, i), the Stirling number of the first kind.

Two special cases of Theorem 2.8 are stated next. These can be considered to be analogues of the duplication formula of  $\psi(x)$  [43, p. 76].

Corollary 2.9. For  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ ,

$$\left(1-\frac{1}{2}\log 2\right)\psi'(2x)+\psi_1'(2x)=\frac{1}{4}\left\{\left(1+\frac{1}{2}\log 2\right)\left(\psi'(x)+\psi'\left(x+\frac{1}{2}\right)\right)+\left(\psi_1'(x)+\psi_1'\left(x+\frac{1}{2}\right)\right)\right\}.$$

Corollary 2.10. For  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ ,

$$\begin{split} &\left(\frac{1}{4}\log^2 2 + \log 2 + 2\right) \left\{\psi'(x) + \psi'\left(x + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right\} + (\log 2 + 2) \left\{\psi_1'(x) + \psi_1'\left(x + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right\} + \left\{\psi_2'(x) + \psi_2'\left(x + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right\} \\ &= 4 \left[\left(\frac{1}{4}\log^2 2 - \log 2 + 2\right)\psi'(2x) + (-\log 2 + 2)\psi_1'(2x) + \psi_2'(2x)\right]. \end{split}$$

## 2.6. Guinand-type transformations.

## 2.6.1. The case $z \in \mathbb{N}, z > 2$ .

**Theorem 2.11.** Fix  $z \in \mathbb{N}$ , z > 2. For  $\alpha, \beta > 0$  such that  $\alpha\beta = 1$ , we have

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!} \alpha^{\frac{-z}{2}} \log^{k-\ell}(\alpha) \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{r}}{(\ell-r)!} \frac{h(r)}{s^{r}(z,1)} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)} \left(1 + \frac{j}{\alpha}\right) 
= \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!} \beta^{\frac{-z}{2}} \log^{k-\ell}(\beta) \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{r}}{(\ell-r)!} \frac{h(r)}{s^{r}(z,1)} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)} \left(1 + \frac{j}{\beta}\right),$$
(2.15)

where h(r), defined in Theorem 2.7, is considered with s(i) = s(z, i), the Stirling number of the first kind.

The infinite version of Theorem 2.8 for z=2 cannot be directly obtained in a similar way as the one obtained above for  $z \in \mathbb{N}, z > 2$  because the associated infinite series involving  $\psi'_j$  diverge. By a careful limiting process, however, one can obtain the following result.

# 2.6.2. The curious case of z = 2.

**Theorem 2.12.** For  $\alpha, \beta > 0$  such that  $\alpha\beta = 1$ ,

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{1}{\ell!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-\ell} \frac{1}{r!} \left\{ (-1)^{\ell} 2^{k-\ell} \alpha \log^{\ell}(\alpha) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \psi_r' (1+\alpha j) - \frac{\log^{r}(\alpha j)}{\alpha j} \right) + a_{\ell} 2^{k-r} \log^{r}(\alpha) \right\} - \frac{1}{2(k+1)!} \log^{k+1}(\alpha) \\
\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{1}{\ell!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-\ell} \frac{1}{r!} \left\{ (-1)^{\ell} 2^{k-\ell} \beta \log^{\ell}(\beta) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \psi_r' (1+\beta j) - \frac{\log^{r}(\beta j)}{\beta j} \right) + a_{\ell} 2^{k-r} \log^{r}(\beta) \right\} - \frac{1}{2(k+1)!} \log^{k+1}(\beta), \tag{2.16}$$

where  $a_{\ell}$  is  $\gamma - 1$  if  $\ell = 0$ , and  $\gamma_{\ell}$  otherwise.

#### 3. Preliminaries

Throughout the paper, we will be using the notation  $\zeta^{(j)}(z,x)$  to denote the jth derivative of  $\zeta(z,x)$  with respect to z. Stirling's formula for  $\Gamma(\sigma+it)$  in the vertical strip  $p \leq \sigma \leq q$  states that as  $|t| \to \infty$ , we have [12, p. 224]

$$|\Gamma(\sigma + it)| = \sqrt{2\pi}|t|^{\sigma - \frac{1}{2}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\pi|t|}\left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{|t|}\right)\right).$$
 (3.1)

Watson's lemma [39, p. 71] is given by

**Theorem 3.1.** If q(t) is a function of the positive real variable t such that

$$q(t) \sim \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} a_s t^{(s+\lambda-\mu)/\mu} \quad (t \to 0)$$

for positive constants  $\lambda$  and  $\mu$ , then

$$\int_0^\infty e^{-yt} q(t) dt \sim \sum_{s=0}^\infty \Gamma\left(\frac{s+\lambda}{\mu}\right) \frac{a_s}{y^{(s+\lambda)/\mu}} \quad (y \to \infty),$$

provided that this integral converges throughout its range for all sufficiently large y.

The above result also holds [43, p. 32] for complex  $\lambda$  with  $\text{Re}(\lambda) > 0$ , and for  $y \in \mathbb{C}$  with the integral being convergent for all sufficiently large values of Re(y).

The following generalization of Watson's lemma which will also be needed in the sequel is due to Wong and Wyman [48, Theorem 4.1].

**Theorem 3.2.** For  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , define a function

$$F(z) := \int_0^{\infty e^{i\gamma}} f(t)e^{-zt}dt.$$

Assume that F(z) exists for some  $z = z_0$ . If

(1) for each integer  $N \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ 

$$f(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} c_n t^{\lambda_n - 1} P_n(\log t) + o(t^{\lambda_N - 1} (\log t)^{m(N)}),$$

as  $t \to 0$  along  $arg(t) = \gamma$ .

- (2)  $P_n(\omega)$  is a polynomial of degree m = m(n).
- (3)  $\{\lambda_n\}$  is a sequence of complex numbers, with  $\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{n+1}) > \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_n)$ ,  $\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_0) > 0$ , for all n such that n and n+1 are in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ .
- (4)  $\{c_n\}$  is a sequence of complex numbers.

Then as  $z \to \infty$  in  $S(\Delta)$ ,

$$F(z) \sim \sum_{n=0}^{N} c_n P_n(D_n) [\Gamma(\lambda_n) z^{-\lambda_n}] + o\left(z^{-\lambda_N} (\log z)^{m(N)}\right),$$

where  $S(\Delta): |\arg(ze^{i\gamma})| \leq \frac{\pi}{2} - \Delta$ , and  $D_n$  is the operator  $D_n := \frac{d}{d\lambda_n}$ . This result is uniform in the approach of  $z \to \infty$  in  $S(\Delta)$ .

# 4. Proofs of the extension of Ramanujan's formula (1.11) and its analogue

Proof of Theorem 2.1. We first prove the result for  $\alpha, \beta > 0$  and then extend it to  $\text{Re}(\alpha) > 0$ ,  $\text{Re}(\beta) > 0$  by analytic continuation. For any positive real number x and 0 < Re(z) < 2, let us denote

$$F(z,x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi(z,nx) - \frac{\zeta(z)}{2x^z} - \frac{\zeta(z-1)}{x(z-1)},$$
(4.1)

where  $\varphi(z,x) = \zeta(z,x) - \frac{1}{2}x^{-z} + \frac{x^{1-z}}{1-z}$ , for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , so that from (2.1), for  $\alpha\beta = 1$ ,

$$\alpha^{\frac{z}{2}}F(z,\alpha) = \beta^{\frac{z}{2}}F(z,\beta). \tag{4.2}$$

Differentiate (4.2) k times with respect to z and the let  $z \to 1$ , thereby obtaining

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^k}{dz^k} \left( \alpha^{\frac{z}{2}} F(z, \alpha) \right) = \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^k}{dz^k} \left( \beta^{\frac{z}{2}} F(z, \beta) \right). \tag{4.3}$$

By Leibnitz rule,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^k}{dz^k} \left( x^{\frac{z}{2}} F(z, x) \right) = \sqrt{x} \sum_{j=0}^k \binom{k}{j} \log^{k-j}(\sqrt{x}) \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^j}{dz^j} F(z, x). \tag{4.4}$$

We shall now compute  $\lim_{z\to 1} \frac{d^j}{dz^j} F(z,x)$  for  $x\in\mathbb{R},\ 0\leq j\leq k$ . Differentiate both sides of (4.1) j times with respect to z (which is justified since the series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi(z,nx)$  is uniformly convergent in  $0<\operatorname{Re}(z)<2$ ; see [16, p. 1159] for details) to get

$$\frac{d^{j}}{dz^{j}}F(z,x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \zeta^{(j)}(z,nx) - \frac{1}{2}(-1)^{j} \log^{j}(nx)(nx)^{-z} - \sum_{m=0}^{j} \binom{j}{m} \frac{(-1)^{j} m! \log^{j-m}(nx)(nx)^{1-z}}{(z-1)^{m+1}} \right) 
- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} \binom{j}{\ell} (-1)^{j-\ell} \log^{j-\ell}(x) \zeta^{(\ell)}(z) x^{-z} - \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} \binom{j}{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{j-\ell} (j-\ell)! \zeta^{(\ell)}(z-1)}{x(z-1)^{j-\ell+1}} 
= S_{1}(z,x) + S_{2}(z,x),$$
(4.5)

where

$$S_1(z,x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \zeta^{(j)}(z,nx) - \frac{1}{2} (-1)^j \log^j(nx) (nx)^{-z} - \sum_{m=0}^j \binom{j}{m} \frac{(-1)^j m! \log^{j-m}(nx) (nx)^{1-z}}{(z-1)^{m+1}} \right), \quad (4.6)$$

$$S_2(z,x) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} {j \choose \ell} (-1)^{j-\ell+1} \left( \frac{\log^{j-\ell}(x)\zeta^{(\ell)}(z)}{2x^z} + \frac{(j-\ell)!\zeta^{(\ell)}(z-1)}{x(z-1)^{j-\ell+1}} \right). \tag{4.7}$$

Our first goal is to explicitly evaluate  $S_1(z,x)$  as  $z \to 1$ . From (1.2) and (1.5),

$$\zeta(z,a) = \frac{1}{z-1} + \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{\ell+1} \frac{\psi_{\ell}(a)}{\ell!} (z-1)^{\ell}$$

so that

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \left( \zeta^{(j)}(z, nx) + \frac{(-1)^{j+1} j!}{(z-1)^{j+1}} \right) = (-1)^{j+1} \psi_j(nx). \tag{4.8}$$

Now add and subtract  $\frac{(-1)^{j+1}j!}{(z-1)^{j+1}}$  from the summand of  $S_1(z,x)$  in (4.6), let  $z \to 1$ , and then use (4.8) to have

$$\lim_{z \to 1} S_1(z, x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \lim_{z \to 1} \left( \zeta^{(j)}(z, nx) + \frac{(-1)^{j+1} j!}{(z-1)^{j+1}} \right) + \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{1}{2} (-1)^{j+1} \log^j(nx) (nx)^{-z} \right)$$

$$-\lim_{z \to 1} \left\{ \sum_{m=0}^{j} {j \choose m} \frac{(-1)^{j} m! \log^{j-m} (nx) (nx)^{1-z}}{(z-1)^{m+1}} + \frac{(-1)^{j+1} j!}{(z-1)^{j+1}} \right\}$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( (-1)^{j+1} \psi_j(nx) + \frac{(-1)^{j+1} \log^j (nx)}{2nx} - \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{S_3(z,x)}{(z-1)^{j+1}} \right),$$
(4.9)

where

$$S_3(z,x) = (-1)^{j+1} j! + \sum_{m=0}^{j} {j \choose m} (-1)^j m! \log^{j-m} (nx) (nx)^{1-z} (z-1)^{j-m}.$$
 (4.10)

Clearly,  $S_3(1,x) = 0$  since  $j \ge 1$ . We shall now show that  $S_3(z,x)$  has zero of order j+1 at z=1. For  $1 \le i \le j$ , differentiate both sides of (4.10) i times with respect to z, and then let  $z \to 1$  so as to have

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^i}{dz^i} S_3(z, x) = \sum_{m=0}^j \binom{j}{m} (-1)^j m! \log^{j-m}(nx) \sum_{r=0}^i \binom{i}{r} \lim_{z \to 1} \left\{ \frac{d^{i-r}}{dz^{i-r}} (nx)^{1-z} \frac{d^r}{dz^r} (z-1)^{j-m} \right\}.$$

Here we note that, if j-m < r, then  $\frac{d^r}{dz^r}(z-1)^{j-m} = 0$ . Also, if j-m > r, then  $\lim_{z\to 1} \frac{d^r}{dz^r}(z-1)^{j-m} = 0$ . Hence the inner sum survives only for r=j-m. Also, this is possible only when  $j-m \le i$ , i.e.  $m \ge j-i$ . Therefore,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{i}}{dz^{i}} S_{3}(z, x) = \sum_{m=j-i}^{j} {j \choose m} (-1)^{j} m! \log^{j-m}(nx) {i \choose j-m} \log^{i-j+m}(nx) (-1)^{i-j+m} (j-m)!$$

$$= j! \log^{i}(nx) \sum_{m=j-i}^{j} (-1)^{i+m} {i \choose j-m}$$

$$= (-1)^{j} j! \log^{i}(nx) \sum_{m=0}^{i} (-1)^{m} {i \choose i-m}$$

$$= 0.$$

where, in the penultimate step we replaced m by m+j-i and then used the binomial theorem. Therefore, using L'Hospital's rule and observing that only the r=m+1 term survives in the inner finite sum in the second step below, we find that

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{S_3(z,x)}{(z-1)^{j+1}} = \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{\frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}} S_3(z,x)}{\frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}} (z-1)^{j+1}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(j+1)!} \lim_{z \to 1} \sum_{m=0}^{j} \binom{j}{m} (-1)^{j} m! \log^{j-m}(nx) \sum_{r=0}^{j+1} \binom{j+1}{r} \frac{d^r}{dz^r} (nx)^{1-z} \frac{d^{j+1-r}}{dz^{j+1-r}} (z-1)^{j-m}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(j+1)!} \sum_{m=0}^{j} \binom{j}{m} (-1)^{j} m! \log^{j-m}(nx) \binom{j+1}{m+1} \log^{m+1}(nx) (-1)^{m+1} (j-m)!$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^{j+1} j! \log^{j+1}(nx)}{(j+1)!} \sum_{m=0}^{j} (-1)^m \binom{j+1}{m+1}$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^{j+1} j! \log^{j+1}(nx)}{(j+1)!}, \tag{4.11}$$

where in the last step we used the binomial theorem. From (4.9) and (4.11), we thus have

$$\lim_{z \to 1} S_1(z, x) = (-1)^{j+1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \psi_j(nx) + \frac{\log^j(nx)}{2nx} - \frac{\log^{j+1}(nx)}{j+1} \right\}. \tag{4.12}$$

Next, we compute  $\lim_{z\to 1} S_2(z,x)$ . Add and subtract  $\binom{j}{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{j+1}\ell! \log^{j-\ell}(x)}{2x^z(z-1)^{\ell+1}}$  from the summand of  $S_2(z,x)$  in (4.7) to get

$$S_2(z,x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} {j \choose \ell} (-1)^{j-\ell+1} \frac{\log^{j-\ell}(x)}{2x^z} \left\{ \zeta^{(\ell)}(z) - \frac{(-1)^{\ell}\ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}} \right\} - \frac{(S_4(z,x) + S_5(z,x))}{2x^z(z-1)^{j+1}}, \tag{4.13}$$

where, with  $g_{\ell}(z) := (z-1)^{\ell} x^{z-1} \zeta^{(\ell)}(z-1), 0 \le \ell \le j$ , we define

$$S_4(z,x) := 2\sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-\ell} {j \choose \ell} (j-\ell)! g_{\ell}(z), \tag{4.14}$$

$$S_5(z,x) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^j {j \choose \ell} \ell! \log^{j-\ell}(x) (z-1)^{j-\ell}.$$
(4.15)

Now we show that  $S_4(z,x)+S_5(z,x)$  has a zero of order j+1 at z=1. Note that  $g_\ell(z)=h_1(z)h_2(z)$ , where  $h_1(z)=(z-1)^\ell, h_2(z)=x^{z-1}\zeta^{(\ell)}(z-1)$ . Note that  $\lim_{z\to 1}\frac{d^s}{dz^s}h_1(z)=0$  unless  $s=\ell$ . Also,  $\lim_{z\to 1}\frac{d^\ell}{dz^\ell}h_1(z)=\ell!$ . Therefore,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{i}}{dz^{i}} g_{\ell}(z) = \lim_{z \to 1} \sum_{s=0}^{i} {i \choose s} \frac{d^{s}}{dz^{s}} h_{1}(z) \frac{d^{i-s}}{dz^{i-s}} h_{2}(z)$$

$$= \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i < \ell, \\ {i \choose \ell} \ell! \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{i-\ell}}{dz^{i-\ell}} h_{2}(z) & \text{if } i \ge \ell. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.16)$$

For  $i \geq \ell$ ,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{i-\ell}}{dz^{i-\ell}} h_2(z) = \lim_{z \to 1} \sum_{r=0}^{i-\ell} {i-\ell \choose r} \log^r(x) x^{z-1} \zeta^{(i-r)}(z-1)$$

$$= \sum_{r=0}^{i-\ell} {i-\ell \choose r} \log^r(x) \zeta^{(i-r)}(0). \tag{4.17}$$

Substituting (4.17) in (4.16), we get

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^i}{dz^i} g_{\ell}(z) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i < \ell, \\ \binom{i}{\ell} \ell! \sum_{r=0}^{i-\ell} \binom{i-\ell}{r} \log^r(x) \zeta^{(i-r)}(0) & \text{if } i \ge \ell. \end{cases}$$
(4.18)

Substitute (4.18) in (4.14) and simplify to obtain

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^i}{dz^i} S_4(z, x) = 2j! \sum_{\ell=0}^i (-1)^{j-\ell} {i \choose \ell} \sum_{r=0}^{i-\ell} {i-\ell \choose r} \log^r(x) \zeta^{(i-r)}(0). \tag{4.19}$$

Similarly, it can be seen that

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^i}{dz^i} S_5(z, x) = j! (-1)^j \log^i(x). \tag{4.20}$$

Hence from (4.19) and (4.20), for  $0 \le i \le j$ ,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{i}}{dz^{i}} (S_{4}(z, x) + S_{5}(z, x))$$

$$= j! \left\{ 2(-1)^{j-i} \sum_{r=0}^{i} (-1)^{i-\ell} {i \choose \ell} \sum_{r=0}^{i-\ell} {i-\ell \choose r} \log^{r}(x) \zeta^{(i-r)}(0) + (-1)^{j} \log^{i}(x) \right\}$$

$$\begin{split} &=j!\Big\{2(-1)^{j-i}\sum_{r=0}^{i}\log^{r}(x)\zeta^{(i-r)}(0)\sum_{\ell=0}^{i-r}(-1)^{i-\ell}\binom{i}{\ell}\binom{i-\ell}{r}+(-1)^{j}\log^{i}(x)\Big\}\\ &=j!\Big\{2(-1)^{j-i}\sum_{r=0}^{i}(-1)^{r}\binom{i}{r}\log^{r}(x)\zeta^{(i-r)}(0)\sum_{\ell=0}^{i-r}(-1)^{i-r-\ell}\binom{i-r}{i-r-\ell}+(-1)^{j}\log^{i}(x)\Big\}\\ &=j!\Big\{2(-1)^{j}\zeta(0)\log^{i}(x)+(-1)^{j}\log^{i}(x)\Big\}\\ &=0, \end{split}$$

where, in the penultimate step, we used the binomial theorem to see that the inner sum vanishes unless r = i, and in which case is equal to 1. Also, in the last step we have used the fact that  $\zeta(0) = -\frac{1}{2}$ . Hence  $S_4(z,x) + S_5(z,x)$  has a zero of order j+1 at z=1. Therefore by L'Hospital's rule,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{S_4(z,x) + S_5(z,x)}{2x^z(z-1)^{j+1}} = \frac{1}{2x} \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{\frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}} (S_4(z,x) + S_5(z,x))}{\frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}} (z-1)^{j+1}}.$$

Using (4.14) and (4.15), we see that the above limit equals

$$\frac{\lim_{z\to 1} \left[ 2\sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-\ell} {j \choose \ell} (j-\ell)! \frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}} g_{\ell}(z) + \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^{j} {j \choose \ell} \ell! \log^{j-\ell}(x) \frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}} (z-1)^{j-\ell} \right]}{2x(j+1)!}.$$

Observe that for all  $0 \le \ell \le j$ ,  $\frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}}(z-1)^{j-\ell} = 0$ , and hence, from (4.18),

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{j+1}}{dz^{j+1}} g_{\ell}(z) = {j+1 \choose \ell} \ell! \sum_{r=0}^{j+1-\ell} {j+1-\ell \choose r} \log^r(x) \zeta^{(j+1-r)}(0).$$

Therefore,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{S_4(z,x) + S_5(z,x)}{2x^z(z-1)^{j+1}} = \frac{1}{x(j+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-\ell} {j+1 \choose \ell} \sum_{r=0}^{j+1-\ell} {j+1-\ell \choose r} \log^r(x) \zeta^{(j+1-r)}(0)$$

$$= \frac{1}{x(j+1)} \Big[ \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-\ell} {j+1 \choose \ell} \zeta^{(j+1)}(0) + \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-\ell} {j+1 \choose \ell} \sum_{r=1}^{j+1-\ell} {j+1-\ell \choose r} \log^r(x) \zeta^{(j+1-r)}(0) \Big]$$

$$= \frac{1}{x(j+1)} \Big[ \zeta^{(j+1)}(0) \Big\{ 1 - \sum_{\ell=0}^{j+1} (-1)^{j+1-\ell} {j+1 \choose \ell} \Big\}$$

$$+ \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-\ell} {j+1 \choose \ell} \sum_{r=0}^{j-\ell} {j+1-\ell \choose r+1} \log^{r+1}(x) \zeta^{(j-r)}(0) \Big]$$

$$= \frac{1}{x(j+1)} \Big[ \zeta^{(j+1)}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{j} \log^{r+1}(x) \zeta^{(j-r)}(0) \sum_{\ell=0}^{j-r} (-1)^{j-\ell} {j+1 \choose \ell} C^{(j+1)}(0) \sum_{\ell=0}^{j-r} (-1)^{j-\ell} C^{(j+1)}(0) \sum_{\ell=0}^{j-r} (-1)^{j-r-\ell} C^{(j-r)}(0) \sum_{\ell$$

Let  $z \to 1$  in (4.13) and employ (4.21) to get

$$\lim_{z \to 1} S_2(z, x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} {j \choose \ell} (-1)^{j+1} \frac{\log^{j-\ell}(x)\gamma_{\ell}}{2x} - \frac{2\zeta^{(j+1)}(0) + (-1)^{j+1} \log^{j+1}(x)}{2x(j+1)}, \tag{4.22}$$

since

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \left\{ \zeta^{(\ell)}(z) - \frac{(-1)^{\ell} \ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}} \right\} = (-1)^{\ell} \gamma_{\ell}.$$

From (4.5), (4.12) and (4.22),

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{j}}{dz^{j}} F(z, x) = (-1)^{j+1} \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \psi_{j}(nx) + \frac{\log^{j}(nx)}{2nx} - \frac{\log^{j+1}(nx)}{(j+1)} \right\} + \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} \binom{j}{\ell} \frac{\log^{j-\ell}(x)\gamma_{\ell}}{2x} - \frac{(-1)^{j+1}2\zeta^{(j+1)}(0) + \log^{j+1}(x)}{2x(j+1)} \right]. \tag{4.23}$$

Finally, substituting (4.23) in (4.4) and using (4.3) we arrive at (2.5) for  $\alpha, \beta > 0$ . Since both sides of (2.5) are analytic in  $Re(\alpha) > 0$ ,  $Re(\beta) > 0$ , the result holds in the extended region as well.

When k = 1, in addition to the modular relation in the theorem proved above, we also derive an analogue of the integral containing the  $\Xi$ -function in (1.11).

Proof of Theorem 2.2. Define

$$J(z,\alpha) := \frac{8(4\pi)^{\frac{z-4}{2}}}{\Gamma(z)} I(z,\alpha), \tag{4.24}$$

where

$$I(z,\alpha) := \int_0^\infty \omega(z,t) \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t \log \alpha\right) dt, \tag{4.25}$$

and  $\omega(z,t)$  is defined in (2.2). Differentiate extreme sides of (2.1) with respect to z, then let  $z \to 1$  and use (4.1) to get

$$\sqrt{\alpha} \sum_{j=0}^{1} {1 \choose j} \frac{\log^{1-j}(x)}{2^{1-j}} \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^j}{dz^j} (F(z,\alpha)) = \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d}{dz} J(z,\alpha). \tag{4.26}$$

Substituting (4.23) with  $x = \alpha$  on the left-hand side of the above equation, we see that

$$\sqrt{\alpha} \sum_{j=0}^{1} \binom{1}{j} \frac{\log^{1-j}(x)}{2^{1-j}} \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{j}}{dz^{j}} (F(z, \alpha))$$

$$= \sqrt{\alpha} \sum_{j=0}^{1} \frac{\log^{1-j}(\alpha)}{2^{1-j}} (-1)^{j+1} \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \psi_{j}(n\alpha) + \frac{\log^{j}(n\alpha)}{2n\alpha} - \frac{\log^{j+1}(n\alpha)}{(j+1)} \right\} \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} \binom{j}{\ell} \frac{\log^{j-\ell}(\alpha)\gamma_{\ell}}{2\alpha} - \frac{(-1)^{j+1}2\zeta^{(j+1)}(0) + \log^{j+1}(\alpha)}{2\alpha(j+1)} \right]$$

$$= \mathscr{F}_{1}(\alpha), \tag{4.27}$$

where  $\mathscr{F}_1(\alpha)$  is defined in (2.6), and where we used the representation [2, p. 226]

$$\zeta''(0) = -\frac{1}{2}\log^2(2\pi) - \frac{\pi^2}{24} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 + \gamma_1.$$
(4.28)

Also,

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d}{dz} J(z, \alpha) = \lim_{z \to 1} \left[ \frac{8(4\pi)^{\frac{z-4}{2}}}{\Gamma(z)} I'(z, \alpha) + \frac{\Gamma(z)8(4\pi)^{\frac{z-4}{2}} \log(4\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}} - 8(4\pi)^{\frac{z-4}{2}} \Gamma'(z)}{\Gamma^{2}(z)} I(z, \alpha) \right]$$

$$= \pi^{\frac{-3}{2}} \left\{ \lim_{z \to 1} I'(z, \alpha) + \left( \frac{1}{2} \log(4\pi) + \gamma \right) \lim_{z \to 1} I(z, \alpha) \right\}. \tag{4.29}$$

Take logarithmic derivative on both sides of (2.2) with respect to z to get

$$\frac{\omega'(z,t)}{\omega(z,t)} = \frac{1}{4}\psi\left(\frac{z-2+it}{4}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\psi\left(\frac{z-2-it}{4}\right) + \frac{i}{2}\frac{\Xi'\left(\frac{t+iz-i}{2}\right)}{\Xi\left(\frac{t+iz-i}{2}\right)} - \frac{i}{2}\frac{\Xi'\left(\frac{t-iz+i}{2}\right)}{\Xi\left(\frac{t-iz+i}{2}\right)} - \frac{2z}{z^2+t^2}.$$

Now let  $z \to 1$  so that

$$\omega'(1,t) = \omega(1,t) \left\{ \frac{1}{4} \psi \left( \frac{-1+it}{4} \right) + \frac{1}{4} \psi \left( \frac{-1-it}{4} \right) - \frac{2}{1+t^2} \right\}.$$

Observe that from (4.25),

$$\lim_{z \to 1} I'(z, \alpha) = \int_0^\infty \lim_{z \to 1} \omega'(z, t) \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t \log \alpha\right) dt$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \omega(1, t) \left\{ \frac{1}{4} \psi\left(\frac{-1 + it}{4}\right) + \frac{1}{4} \psi\left(\frac{-1 - it}{4}\right) - \frac{2}{1 + t^2} \right\} \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t \log \alpha\right) dt,$$

where the interchange of the order of limit and integration is permissible because of the uniform convergence of the integral in 0 < Re(z) < 2, which, in turn, follows from (3.1) and elementary bounds of the zeta function. Substitute the above equation in (4.29), simplify and use (2.7) to arrive at

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d}{dz} J(z, \alpha) = \mathscr{I}(\alpha). \tag{4.30}$$

Thus, from (4.26), (4.27) and (4.30), we see that  $\mathscr{F}_1(\alpha) = \mathscr{I}(\alpha)$ . Noting that  $\mathscr{I}(\alpha)$  is invariant upon replacing  $\alpha$  by  $\beta$ , where  $\alpha\beta = 1$ , we get the remaining equalities in (2.8), which completes the proof.  $\square$ 

## 4.1. Proof of the asymptotic expansion of the $\Xi$ -function integral.

Proof of Theorem 2.3. From [23, Equation (6.2)], for -1 < Re z < 1,

$$\alpha^{(z+1)/2} \int_0^\infty e^{-2\pi\alpha x} x^{z/2} \left( \Omega(x,z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2-1} \right) dx = \frac{1}{2\pi^{(z+5)/2}} I(z+1,\alpha), \tag{4.31}$$

where,

$$\Omega(x,z) = 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{-z}(n) n^{z/2} \left( e^{\pi i z/4} K_z (4\pi e^{\pi i/4} \sqrt{nx}) + e^{-\pi i z/4} K_z (4\pi e^{-\pi i/4} \sqrt{nx}) \right),$$

with  $K_z(x)$  denoting the modified Bessel function of the second kind and  $\sigma_{-z}(n) = \sum_{d|n} d^{-z}$ . Therefore, from (4.24) and (4.31),

$$\alpha^{(z+1)/2} \int_0^\infty e^{-2\pi\alpha x} x^{z/2} \left( \Omega(x,z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2-1} \right) dx = \frac{\Gamma(z+1)}{(2\pi)^{z+1}} J(z+1,\alpha). \tag{4.32}$$

Differentiate both sides of (4.32) with respect to z and then let  $z \to 0$  so as to have

$$\lim_{z \to 0} \frac{d}{dz} \left[ \alpha^{(z+1)/2} \int_0^\infty e^{-2\pi \alpha x} x^{z/2} \left( \Omega(x, z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2 - 1} \right) dx \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{d}{dz} J(z + 1, \alpha) - \frac{\gamma + \log(2\pi)}{(2\pi)} J(1, \alpha), \tag{4.33}$$

since  $\Gamma'(1) = -\gamma$ . Our next task is to obtain the asymptotic expansion of the left-hand side as  $\alpha \to \infty$ . Note that from [22, Proposition 6.1], for -1 < Re(z) < 1,

$$\Omega(x,z) - \frac{1}{2\pi}\zeta(z)x^{z/2-1} = \frac{-\Gamma(z)\zeta(z)}{(2\pi\sqrt{x})^z} - \frac{x^{z/2}}{2}\zeta(z+1) + \frac{x^{z/2+1}}{\pi}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma_{-z}(n)}{n^2 + x^2},$$
 (4.34)

which, upon letting  $z \to 0$  gives

$$\Omega(x,0) + \frac{1}{4\pi x} = -\gamma - \frac{1}{2}\log(x) + \frac{x}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n)}{n^2 + x^2}.$$
 (4.35)

Using (4.34), we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{d}{dz} \left[ (\alpha x)^{z/2} \left( \Omega(x,z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2-1} \right) \right] \\ &= \frac{(\alpha x)^{z/2} \log(\alpha x)}{2} \left( \Omega(x,z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2-1} \right) + (\alpha x)^{z/2} \frac{d}{dz} \left( \frac{-\Gamma(z) \zeta(z)}{(2\pi \sqrt{x})^z} - \frac{x^{z/2}}{2} \zeta(z+1) + \frac{x^{z/2+1}}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma_{-z}(n)}{n^2 + x^2} \right) \\ &= \frac{(\alpha x)^{z/2} \log(\alpha x)}{2} \left( \Omega(x,z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2-1} \right) \\ &+ (\alpha x)^{z/2} \left( -\frac{(\Gamma'(z) \zeta(z) + \Gamma(z) \zeta'(z) - \log(2\pi \sqrt{x}) \Gamma(z) \zeta(z))}{(2\pi \sqrt{x})^z} - \frac{x^{z/2}}{4} \log(x) \zeta(z+1) - \frac{x^{z/2}}{2} \zeta'(z+1) \right) \\ &+ \frac{x^{z/2+1}}{2\pi} \log(x) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma_{-z}(n)}{n^2 + x^2} - \frac{x^{z/2+1}}{\pi} \sum_{d=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{d^{-z} \log(d)}{m^2 d^2 + x^2} \right). \end{split}$$

Since

$$\lim_{z \to 0} (\alpha x)^{z/2} \left( -\frac{(\Gamma'(z)\zeta(z) + \Gamma(z)\zeta'(z) - \log(2\pi\sqrt{x})\Gamma(z)\zeta(z))}{(2\pi\sqrt{x})^z} - \frac{x^{z/2}}{4} \log(x)\zeta(z+1) - \frac{x^{z/2}}{2}\zeta'(z+1) \right) = \frac{\pi^2}{16},$$

which can be proved using the well-known power series/Laurent series expansions about z=0 of the functions involved, we obtain

$$\lim_{z \to 0} \frac{d}{dz} \left[ (\alpha x)^{z/2} \left( \Omega(x, z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2 - 1} \right) \right]$$

$$= \frac{\log(\alpha x)}{2} \left( \Omega(x, 0) + \frac{1}{4\pi x} \right) + \frac{\pi^2}{16} + \frac{1}{\pi} \left( \frac{x \log(x)}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n)}{n^2 + x^2} - \frac{x}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n) \log(n)}{n^2 + x^2} \right), \tag{4.36}$$

where we used the fact  $\sum_{d|n} \log(d) = \log(\prod_{d|n} d) = \frac{1}{2}d(n)\log(n)$  using the elementary result  $\prod_{d|n} d = n^{d(n)/2}$  given, for example, in [1, Exercise 10, p. 47]. Since the integral on the left-hand side of (4.33) converges uniformly in -1 < Re(z) < 1 as can be seen from the bounds established for the integrand in [20, Equations (9.1.2), (9.1.3)], from (4.33) and (4.36), we have

$$\sqrt{\alpha} \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{d}{dz} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi\alpha x} (\alpha x)^{z/2} \left( \Omega(x, z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2 - 1} \right) dx 
= \frac{\sqrt{\alpha} \log(\alpha)}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi\alpha x} \left( \Omega(x, 0) + \frac{1}{4\pi x} \right) dx + \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi\alpha x} \log(x) \left( \Omega(x, 0) + \frac{1}{4\pi x} \right) dx 
+ \frac{\pi^{2} \sqrt{\alpha}}{16} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi\alpha x} dx + \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} x e^{-2\pi\alpha x} \left( \log(x) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n)}{n^{2} + x^{2}} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n) \log(n)}{n^{2} + x^{2}} \right) dx 
=: H_{1}(\alpha) + H_{2}(\alpha) + H_{3}(\alpha) + H_{4}(\alpha).$$
(4.37)

Equations (6.3) and (6.4) of [23] together imply that as  $\alpha \to \infty$ 

$$H_1(\alpha) \sim \frac{\sqrt{\alpha} \log(\alpha)}{2} \left( \frac{-\gamma + \log(2\pi\alpha)}{4\pi\alpha} + \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{\pi (2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \Gamma(2m+2) \zeta^2(2m+2) \right).$$
 (4.38)

We now find the asymptotic expansion of  $H_2(\alpha)$  as  $\alpha \to \infty$ . Using (4.35), we have

$$H_{2}(\alpha) = \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi\alpha x} \log(x) \left(-\gamma - \frac{1}{2} \log(x)\right) dx + \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi\alpha x} \log(x) \frac{x}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n)}{n^{2} + x^{2}} dx$$

$$=: H_{21}(\alpha) + H_{22}(\alpha). \tag{4.39}$$

Using [25, p. 571, formula **4.331.1**; p. 572, formula **4.335.1**], $H_{21}(\alpha)$  simplifies to

$$H_{21}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{48\pi\sqrt{\alpha}} \left( 6\gamma^2 - \pi^2 - 6\log^2(2) - 6\log(\pi)\log(4\pi) - 6\log(\alpha)\log(4\pi^2\alpha) \right). \tag{4.40}$$

From [23, p. 30], as  $x \to 0$ ,

$$\frac{x}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n)}{n^2 + x^2} \sim \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (-1)^m \zeta^2 (2m+2) x^{2m+1}.$$

We are now ready to employ the generalization of Watson's lemma given in Theorem 3.2 with  $p_m(x)=x$ ,  $\lambda_m=2m+2$ ,  $c_n=\frac{1}{\pi}(-1)^m\zeta^2(2m+2)$ ,  $m\geq 0$ , which leads to

$$H_{22}(\alpha) \sim \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (-1)^m \zeta^2 (2m+2) \frac{d}{d\lambda_m} \left( \frac{\Gamma(\lambda_m)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{\lambda_m}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2) \zeta^2 (2m+2)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \left( \psi(2m+2) - \log(2\pi\alpha) \right). \tag{4.41}$$

From (4.39), (4.40) and (4.41)

$$H_2(\alpha) = \frac{1}{48\pi\sqrt{\alpha}} \left( 6\gamma^2 - \pi^2 - 6\log^2(2) - 6\log(\pi)\log(4\pi) - 6\log(\alpha)\log(4\pi^2\alpha) \right) + \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2)\zeta^2(2m+2)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \left( \psi(2m+2) - \log(2\pi\alpha) \right).$$
(4.42)

Also, we can directly evaluate  $H_3(\alpha)$  to get

$$H_3(\alpha) = \frac{\pi}{32\sqrt{\alpha}}.\tag{4.43}$$

It only remains to find the asymptotic expansion of  $H_4(\alpha)$  as  $\alpha \to \infty$  for which we employ Watson's lemma, that is, Theorem 3.1. From the respective definitions of  $H_4(\alpha)$  and  $H_{22}(\alpha)$  from (4.37) and (4.39), we observe that

$$H_4(\alpha) = H_{22}(\alpha) - \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty x e^{-2\pi\alpha x} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{d(n)\log(n)}{n^2 + x^2} dx.$$
 (4.44)

As  $x \to 0$ ,

$$x\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n)\log(n)}{n^2 + x^2} = x\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n)\log(n)}{n^2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-x^2}{n^2}\right)^{\ell} = 2\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{\ell+1} \zeta(2\ell+2)\zeta'(2\ell+2)x^{2\ell+1},$$

since, for  $\operatorname{Re}(w) > 1$ , we have  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} d(n) \log(n) n^{-w} = -2\zeta(w)\zeta'(w)$ . Now use Watson's Lemma, that is, Theorem 3.1 with  $\mu = 1/2$ ,  $\lambda = 1$ ,  $y = 2\pi\alpha$  and  $a_s = 2(-1)^{s+1}\zeta(2s+2)\zeta'(2s+2)$  to get, as  $\alpha \to \infty$ ,

$$\frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty x e^{-2\pi\alpha x} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{d(n)\log(n)}{n^2 + x^2} dx \sim \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^\infty \frac{2(-1)^{m+1} \Gamma(2m+2) \zeta(2m+2) \zeta'(2m+2)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}}.$$
 (4.45)

From (4.37), (4.38), (4.41), (4.42), (4.43), (4.44) and (4.45), we have, upon simplification,

$$\lim_{z \to 0} \frac{d}{dz} \alpha^{(z+1)/2} \int_0^\infty e^{-2\pi\alpha x} x^{z/2} \left( \Omega(x,z) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \zeta(z) x^{z/2-1} \right) dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{8\pi\sqrt{\alpha}} \left( \gamma + \log(2\pi) \right) \left( \gamma - \log(2\pi\alpha) \right) + \frac{\pi}{96\sqrt{\alpha}}$$

$$+ \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{\pi} \sum_{m=0}^\infty \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2) \zeta^2(2m+2)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \left( \frac{\log(\alpha)}{2} + \psi(2m+2) - \log(2\pi\alpha) + \frac{\zeta'(2m+2)}{\zeta(2m+2)} \right). \tag{4.46}$$

Now from the definition of  $J(z,\alpha)$  from (4.24) and [23, Theorem 1.10], we see that as  $\alpha \to \infty$ ,

$$J(1,\alpha) \sim \frac{-\gamma + \log(2\pi\alpha)}{2\sqrt{\alpha}} + 2\sqrt{\alpha} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \Gamma(2m+2)\zeta^2(2m+2). \tag{4.47}$$

From (4.33), (4.46) and (4.47),

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2\pi} \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{d}{dz} J(z+1,\alpha) &\sim -\frac{1}{8\pi\sqrt{\alpha}} \left( \gamma + \log(2\pi) \right) \left( \gamma - \log(2\pi\alpha) \right) + \frac{\pi}{96\sqrt{\alpha}} \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2) \zeta^2(2m+2)}{(2\pi\alpha)^{2m+2}} \left( -\frac{1}{2} \log(\alpha) + \gamma + \psi(2m+2) + \frac{\zeta'(2m+2)}{\zeta(2m+2)} \right). \end{split}$$

Finally, use (4.30) in the above equation to complete the proof of (2.9).

Proof of Corollary 2.4. We first prove (2.11). From (2.6) and (2.8),

$$\sqrt{\alpha} \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_1(n\alpha) + \frac{\log^2(2\pi) - (\gamma - \log(x))^2}{4\alpha} + \frac{\pi^2}{48\alpha} \right\} = \frac{\sqrt{\alpha} \log(\alpha)}{2} \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi(n\alpha) + \frac{\gamma - \log(2\pi\alpha)}{2\alpha} \right\} + \mathscr{I}(\alpha). \tag{4.48}$$

Using (1.11), (1.12) and Theorem 2.3, we arrive at (2.11) upon simplification. We next prove (2.10). Recall from the sentence following (2.9) that as  $\alpha \to 0$ ,

$$\mathcal{I}(\alpha) \sim -\frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{4} \left(\gamma + \log(2\pi)\right) \left(\gamma - \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{\alpha}\right)\right) + \frac{\pi^2 \sqrt{\alpha}}{48} + \frac{2}{\sqrt{\alpha}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \Gamma(2m+2)\zeta^2(2m+2)}{(2\pi)^{2m+2}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\log(\alpha) + \gamma + \psi(2m+2) + \frac{\zeta'(2m+2)}{\zeta(2m+2)}\right) \alpha^{2m+2}.$$
(4.49)

Similarly, from (1.12), as  $\alpha \to 0$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\pi^{3/2}} \int_0^\infty \left| \Xi\left(\frac{1}{2}t\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-1+it}{4}\right) \right|^2 \frac{\cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t\log\alpha\right)}{1+t^2} dt$$

$$\sim -\frac{\sqrt{\alpha}}{2} \left(\gamma - \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{\alpha}\right)\right) - \frac{2}{\sqrt{\alpha}} \sum_{m=1}^\infty \frac{(-1)^m}{(2\pi)^{2m}} \Gamma(2m) \zeta^2(2m) \alpha^{2m}.$$
(4.50)

Equation (2.10) now follows from (4.48), (1.11), (4.50) and (4.49) upon simplification.

### 5. Proofs of Carlitz-type transformations

Proof of Theorem 2.5. Differentiate (1.16) k times with respect to z using the Leibnitz rule to get

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^k \binom{k}{\ell} n^z \log^{k-\ell}(n) \sum_{j=1}^m \zeta^{(\ell)} \left(z, nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right) = \sum_{\ell=0}^k \binom{k}{\ell} m^z \log^{k-\ell}(m) \sum_{j=1}^n \zeta^{(\ell)} \left(z, mx + \frac{m(j-1)}{n}\right).$$

Add and subtract the principal part of the Laurent series expansion of the  $\ell$ -th derivative of the Hurwitz zeta function from the summands of the inner sums on both sides and rearrange the terms to get

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} n^z \log^{k-\ell}(n) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(-1)^{\ell} \ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}} - \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} m^z \log^{k-\ell}(m) \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{\ell} \ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}}$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} m^z \log^{k-\ell}(m) \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( \zeta^{(\ell)} \left( z, mx + \frac{m(j-1)}{n} \right) - \frac{(-1)^{\ell} \ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}} \right)$$

$$- \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} n^z \log^{k-\ell}(n) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left( \zeta^{(\ell)} \left( z, nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m} \right) - \frac{(-1)^{\ell} \ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}} \right). \tag{5.1}$$

The left-hand side of (5.1) can be simplified to

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} n^z \log^{k-\ell}(n) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(-1)^{\ell} \ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}} - \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} m^z \log^{k-\ell}(m) \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{\ell} \ell!}{(z-1)^{\ell+1}} \\
= \frac{1}{(z-1)^{k+1}} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} (-1)^{\ell} \ell! {k \choose \ell} (z-1)^{k-\ell} \left\{ mn^z \log^{k-\ell}(n) - nm^z \log^{k-\ell}(m) \right\} \\
= \frac{R(z)}{(z-1)^{k+1}}, \tag{5.2}$$

where R(z) is defined by

$$R(z) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} (-1)^{k-\ell} (k-\ell)! \binom{k}{\ell} (z-1)^{\ell} \left( mn^z \log^{\ell}(n) - nm^z \log^{\ell}(m) \right).$$

We now show that for  $0 \le i \le k$ ,  $\lim_{z\to 1} \frac{d^i}{dz^i} R(z) = 0$ . To that end, differentiate R(z) *i*-times with respect to z to get

$$\frac{d^{i}}{dz^{i}}R(z) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} (-1)^{k-\ell} (k-\ell)! \binom{k}{\ell} \sum_{r=0}^{i} \binom{i}{r} \frac{d^{r}}{dz^{r}} \left[ (z-1)^{\ell} \right] \frac{d^{i-r}}{dz^{i-r}} \left[ mn^{z} \log^{\ell}(n) - nm^{z} \log^{\ell}(m) \right].$$

We wish to let  $z \to 1$  on both sides. Note that for  $r \neq \ell$ ,  $\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^r}{dz^r} (z-1)^{\ell} = 0$ . So, only the term  $r = \ell$  survives in the inside sum for each  $0 \le \ell \le k$ , which is possible only if  $i \ge \ell$ . Also for  $\ell > i$ ,  $\binom{i}{\ell} = 0$ , so the sum reduces to

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{i}}{dz^{i}} R(z) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{i} (-1)^{k-\ell} (k-\ell)! \binom{k}{\ell} \binom{i}{\ell} \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{\ell}}{dz^{\ell}} \left[ (z-1)^{\ell} \right] \lim_{z \to 1} \frac{d^{i-\ell}}{dz^{i-\ell}} \left[ mn^{z} \log^{\ell}(n) - nm^{z} \log^{\ell}(m) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=0}^{i} (-1)^{k-\ell} (k-\ell)! \binom{k}{\ell} \binom{i}{\ell} \ell! \left[ mn \log^{i}(n) - nm \log^{i}(m) \right]$$

$$= 0.$$

Thus, we can apply L'Hospital's rule k+1 times to (5.2) to have

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{R(z)}{(z-1)^{k+1}} = \frac{1}{(k+1)!} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} (-1)^{k-\ell} (k-\ell)! \binom{k}{\ell} \binom{k+1}{\ell} \ell! \left[ mn \log^{k+1}(n) - nm \log^{k+1}(m) \right]$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^k}{k+1} \left[ mn \log^{k+1}(n) - nm \log^{k+1}(m) \right] \left\{ \sum_{\ell=0}^{k+1} (-1)^{\ell} \binom{k+1}{\ell} - (-1)^{k+1} \right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{k+1} \left[ mn \log^{k+1}(n) - nm \log^{k+1}(m) \right]. \tag{5.3}$$

Take  $\lim_{z\to 1}$  of both sides of (5.1), and use (4.8) and (5.3) to get

$$\frac{1}{k+1} \left[ mn \log^{k+1}(n) - nm \log^{k+1}(m) \right] = \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} m \log^{k-\ell}(m) \sum_{j=1}^{n} (-1)^{\ell+1} \psi_{\ell} \left( mx + \frac{m(j-1)}{n} \right) - \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} n \log^{k-\ell}(n) \sum_{j=1}^{m} (-1)^{\ell+1} \psi_{\ell} \left( nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m} \right).$$

Re-arrange the terms of the above identity to arrive at (2.12), which completes the proof.  $\square$  Proof of Corollary 2.6. Put k=0 in Theorem 2.5.  $\square$ 

### 6. Proof of the inversion formula

The inversion formula, which forms the basis of much of the developments in the sequel, is now proved. *Proof of Theorem* 2.7. The proof invokes the principle of strong mathematical induction.

Clearly h(0) = 1, because the empty partition is the only partition of 0. Hence the Theorem holds true for k = 0. Let us assume that the statement holds true for all  $m, 0 \le m \le k$ , that is,

$$f(m) = \sum_{r=0}^{m} \frac{(-1)^r}{s^{r+1}(1)} h(r) g(m-r),$$

where h(r) is defined in (2.13). We prove that

$$f(k+1) = \sum_{r=0}^{k+1} \frac{(-1)^r}{s^{r+1}(1)} h(r)g(k+1-r).$$

From the definition of g(n),

$$g(k+1) = \sum_{r=0}^{k+1} s(k-r+2)f(r),$$

which, with the help of the induction hypothesis, implies

$$-s(1)f(k+1) = -g(k+1) + \sum_{r=0}^{k} s(k-r+2) \sum_{i=0}^{r} \frac{(-1)^{i}}{s^{i+1}(1)} h(i)g(r-i)$$

$$= -g(k+1) + \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{r=i}^{k} (-1)^{i} s(k-r+2) \frac{g(r-i)}{s^{i+1}(1)} h(i)$$

$$= -g(k+1) + \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{y=0}^{k-i} (-1)^{i} s(k-y-i+2) \frac{g(y)}{s^{i+1}(1)} h(i)$$

$$= -g(k+1) + \sum_{y=0}^{k} g(y) \sum_{i=0}^{k-y} (-1)^{i} \frac{s(k-y-i+2)}{s^{i+1}(1)} h(i), \tag{6.1}$$

where in the penultimate step, we let r = y + i. For  $\ell \ge 0$ , we now show

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\ell} (-1)^{i} \frac{s(\ell-i+2)}{s^{i+1}(1)} h(i) = \frac{(-1)^{\ell}}{s^{\ell+1}(1)} h(\ell+1). \tag{6.2}$$

Let  $\mathscr{P}(2i)$  denote the set of all integer partitions of 2i in exactly i parts, that is, the number of non-negative integer solutions of  $1b_1 + ... + (r+1)b_{i+1} = 2i, b_1 + ... + b_{i+1} = i$ . If  $\pi$  denotes any such partition, then

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\ell} (-1)^{i} \frac{s(\ell-i+2)}{s^{i+1}(1)} h(i) = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} (-1)^{i} \frac{s(\ell-i+2)}{s^{i+1}(1)} \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{P}(2i)} (-1)^{b_{1}} \prod_{j=1}^{i+1} s^{b_{j}}(j) \frac{(i-b_{1})!}{b_{2}! \dots b_{i+1}!} \\
= \frac{(-1)^{\ell}}{s^{\ell+1}(1)} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} s^{\ell-i}(1) s(\ell-i+2) \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{P}(2i)} (-1)^{b_{1}+\ell-i} \prod_{j=1}^{i+1} s^{b_{j}}(j) \frac{(i-b_{1})!}{b_{2}! \dots b_{i+1}!} \\
= \frac{(-1)^{\ell}}{s^{\ell+1}(1)} \sum_{\pi' \in \mathscr{P}(2\ell+2)} (-1)^{c_{1}} \prod_{j=1}^{\ell+2} s^{c_{j}}(j) \frac{(\ell+1-c_{1})!}{c_{2}! \dots c_{\ell+2}!} \\
= \frac{(-1)^{\ell}}{s^{\ell+1}(1)} h(\ell+1), \tag{6.3}$$

where the sum in the penultimate expression runs over all non-negative integer solutions of  $1c_1 + ... + (\ell+2)c_{\ell+2} = 2\ell+2$  with  $c_1 + ... + c_{\ell+2} = \ell+1$ .

The second-last step above can be justified as follows. For a non-negative integer n and  $\lambda \in \mathscr{P}(2n)$ , define  $\operatorname{freq}_{2n}(\lambda) := \frac{(n-b_1)!}{b_2! \dots b_{n+1}!}$ . Consider  $\mathscr{P}'(2n)$  to be the multiset corresponding to the partitions  $\pi \in \mathscr{P}(2n)$ , where each  $\pi$  occurs  $\operatorname{freq}_{2n}(\pi)$  many times so that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\ell} s^{\ell-i}(1)s(\ell-i+2) \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{P}(2i)} (-1)^{b_1+\ell-i} \prod_{j=1}^{i+1} s^{b_j}(j) \frac{(i-b_1)!}{b_2! \dots b_{i+1}!}$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{P}'(2i)} (-1)^{b_1+\ell-i} s^{\ell-i}(1)s(\ell-i+2) \prod_{j=1}^{i+1} s^{b_j}(j).$$

For  $0 \le i \le \ell$ , let  $\pi \in \mathcal{P}(2i)$ . We add  $\ell - i$  many 1's and the part  $(\ell - i + 2)$  to  $\pi$  to get  $\pi'$  which is now a partition of  $2\ell + 2$  in exactly  $\ell + 1$  parts. Moreover, for a fixed  $\pi' \in \mathcal{P}(2\ell + 2)$ , that is,  $\pi' : 1c_1 + ... + (\ell + 2)c_{\ell+2} = 2\ell + 2$ , where  $c_1 + ... + c_{\ell+2} = \ell + 1$ , if  $c_{\ell-i+2} > 0$ , then  $\pi$  given by  $\pi : 1(c_1 - (\ell - i)) + ... + (\ell - i + 2)(c_{\ell-i+2} - 1) + ... + (\ell + 2)c_{\ell+2} = 2i$  belongs to  $\mathcal{P}(2i)$ .

For the same fixed  $\pi'$ , we now need to evaluate exact count of  $\pi$ 's in  $\mathscr{P}(2i)$ , where i varies from 0 to  $\ell$ , which can generate  $\pi'$  on addition of  $(\ell - i)$  many 1's and the part  $(\ell - i + 2)$ . We show that this count is equal to  $\text{freq}_{2\ell+2}(\pi')$ .

To that end, we can see that for each i such that  $0 \le i \le \ell$ ,  $\pi \in \mathcal{P}(2i)$  contributes

$$freq_{2i}(\pi) = \frac{(i - (c_1 - (\ell - i)))!}{c_2! \cdots (c_{\ell-i+2} - 1)! \cdots c_{\ell+2}!} = \frac{(\ell - c_1)!}{c_2! \cdots c_{\ell+2}!} c_{\ell-i+2}$$

towards the count irrespective of whether  $c_{\ell-i+2}$  is non-zero or not. The second equality above stems from the fact that  $c_j = 0$  for any j between i+2 and  $\ell+2$ . Since  $c_1 + ... + c_{\ell+2} = \ell+1$ , the total count of  $\pi$ 's as i varies from 0 to  $\ell$  is

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \frac{(\ell - c_1)!}{c_2! \cdots c_{\ell+2}!} c_{\ell-i+2} = \frac{(\ell + 1 - c_1)!}{c_2! \cdots c_{\ell+2}!} = \operatorname{freq}_{2\ell+2}(\pi'),$$

by definition. In other words, the cardinality of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathscr{P}'(2i)$  is equal to that of  $\mathscr{P}'(2\ell+2)$ . Therefore,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{P}'(2i)} (-1)^{b_1 + \ell - i} s^{\ell - i}(1) s(\ell - i + 2) \prod_{j=1}^{i+1} s^{b_j}(j) = \sum_{\pi' \in \mathscr{P}'(2\ell + 2)} (-1)^{c_1} \prod_{j=1}^{\ell+2} s^{c_j}(j)$$

$$= \sum_{\pi' \in \mathscr{P}(2\ell + 2)} (-1)^{c_1} \prod_{j=1}^{\ell+2} s^{c_j}(j) \frac{(\ell + 1 - c_1)!}{c_2! ... c_{l+2}!},$$

which justifies the third equality in (6.3).

Now substitute  $\ell = k - y$  in (6.2), substitute the resultant in (6.1) and simplify to obtain

$$f(k+1) = \sum_{y=0}^{k+1} \frac{(-1)^{k+1-y}}{s^{k+2-y}(1)} h(k+1-y)g(y)$$
$$= \sum_{y=0}^{k+1} \frac{(-1)^y}{s^{y+1}(1)} h(y)g(k+1-y).$$

By invoking the principle of mathematical induction, we see that the proof is now complete.

#### 7. Combinatorics meets Special Functions: Proof of Theorem 2.8

Transformations of Guinand-type, that is, (1.13), containing second or higher-order derivatives of  $\psi_k(x), k \geq 0$ , crucially involve the combinatorial object h(r) dealt with in Section 6. This can be seen in the proof of Theorem 2.8 which we now give. Let

$$F_{m,n}(z) := \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)^{\frac{-z}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \zeta\left(z, nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right).$$

Then from (1.16),

$$F_{m,n}(z) = F_{n,m}(z).$$
 (7.1)

Differentiate  $F_{m,n}(z)$  k times with respect to z to obtain

$$\frac{d^k}{dz^k}(F_{m,n}(z)) = \sum_{\ell=0}^k \binom{k}{\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)^{\frac{-z}{2}} \left(\frac{-1}{2}\right)^{k-\ell} \log^{k-\ell}\left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{j=1}^m \zeta^{(\ell)}\left(z, nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right). \tag{7.2}$$

From [11, Corollary 2] and (1.5), we have for  $z \in \mathbb{N}, z > 1$ ,

$$-\frac{\psi_{\ell}^{(z-1)}(y)}{\ell!} = \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} s(z, \ell - r + 1) \frac{(-1)^r}{r!} \zeta^{(r)}(z, y).$$
 (7.3)

We use Theorem 2.7 with  $g(\ell) = -\frac{\psi_{\ell}^{(z-1)}(y)}{\ell!}$ ,  $f(r) = \frac{(-1)^r}{r!}\zeta^{(r)}(z,y)$ , and s(i) = s(z,i), the Stirling number of the first kind, to get

$$\zeta^{(\ell)}(z,y) = \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{\ell+r+1}}{s^{r+1}(z,1)} \frac{\ell!}{(\ell-r)!} h(r) \psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)}(y). \tag{7.4}$$

where h(r) is defined in (2.13). Now substitute (7.4) in (7.2) to have

$$\frac{d^{k}}{dz^{k}}(F_{m,n}(z)) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} {k \choose \ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)^{\frac{-z}{2}} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\sqrt{\frac{n}{m}}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{\ell+r+1}}{s^{r+1}(z,1)} \frac{\ell!}{(\ell-r)!} h(r) \psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)} \left(nx + \frac{n(j-1)}{m}\right). \tag{7.5}$$

From (7.1) and (7.5), we arrive at (2.14) upon simplification. This completes the proof of Theorem 2.8.

Proof of Corollary 2.9. Take z=2, k=1, m=1 and n=2 in Theorem 2.8 and use the facts that s(2,2)=1 and h(0)=h(1)=1.

Proof of Corollary 2.10. Take z=2, k=2, m=2 and n=1 in Theorem 2.8, use the facts s(2,1)=-1, s(2,2)=1, s(2,3)=0, and h(0)=h(1)=h(2)=1.

#### 8. Proofs of Guinand-Type Transformations

We begin this section with a couple of lemmas, which are also of independent interest. The second one uses the first, and justifies why the infinite series of  $\psi_{\ell}^{(z-1)}$  in our theorems are convergent.

**Lemma 8.1.** Let  $r \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , x > 0 and  $\text{Re}(z) > -1, z \neq 1$ . As  $x \to \infty$ ,

$$\zeta^{(r)}(z,x) = \sum_{t=0}^{r} {r \choose t} \frac{(-1)^{r} t!}{(z-1)^{t+1}} \frac{\log^{r-t}(x)}{x^{z-1}} + (-1)^{r} \frac{\log^{r}(x)}{2x^{z}} + O_{r,z} \left( \frac{\log^{r}(x)}{x^{\operatorname{Re}(z)+1}} \right). \tag{8.1}$$

*Proof.* From [38, p. 608, formula **25.11.20**], for x > 0 and  $Re(z) > -1, z \neq 1$ ,

$$\zeta^{(r)}(z,x) = \sum_{t=0}^{r} {r \choose t} \frac{(-1)^r t!}{(z-1)^{t+1}} \frac{\log^{r-t}(x)}{x^{z-1}} + (-1)^r \frac{\log^r(x)}{2x^z} + (-1)^{r+1} z(z+1) \int_0^\infty \frac{\tilde{B}_2(u) \log^r(u+x)}{(u+x)^{z+2}} du$$

$$+ r(-1)^{r}(2z+1) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\tilde{B}_{2}(u) \log^{r-1}(u+x)}{(u+x)^{z+2}} du + (-1)^{r+1} r(r-1) \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\tilde{B}_{2}(u) \log^{r-2}(u+x)}{(u+x)^{z+2}} du,$$
(8.2)

where  $\tilde{B}_2(u)$  denotes the second periodized Bernoulli polynomial [43, p. 5-6], that is,

$$\tilde{B}_2(u) = B_2(u) = u^2 - u + \frac{1}{6}, 0 \le u \le 1,$$
  
 $\tilde{B}_2(u+1) = \tilde{B}_2(u), u \in \mathbb{R}.$ 

Thus, it suffices to show that for any  $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , as  $x \to \infty$ , we have

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{\tilde{B}_2(u) \log^n(u+x)}{(u+x)^{z+2}} du = O_z \left( \frac{\log^n(x)}{x^{\text{Re}(z)+1}} \right).$$
 (8.3)

To that end, observe that since  $\tilde{B}_2(u) \leq 13/6$  on  $(0, \infty)$ ,

$$\left| \int_0^\infty \frac{\tilde{B}_2(u) \log^n(u+x)}{(u+x)^{z+2}} du \right| \le \frac{13}{6} \int_0^\infty \frac{\log^n(u+x)}{(u+x)^{\text{Re}(z)+2}} du.$$
 (8.4)

Now let  $(\operatorname{Re}(z) + 1) \log(u + x) = y$  so that  $du/(u + x) = dy/(\operatorname{Re}(z) + 1)$ . Thus,

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{\log^n(u+x)}{(u+x)^{\text{Re}(z)+2}} du = \frac{1}{(\text{Re}(z)+1)^{n+1}} \Gamma(n+1, (\text{Re}(z)+1)\log(x)), \tag{8.5}$$

where  $\Gamma(a, w) := \int_w^\infty e^{-y} y^{a-1} dy$  is the incomplete gamma function. From [38, p. 179, Formula **8.11.2**], for a fixed a, we have  $\Gamma(a, w) \sim w^{a-1} e^{-w}$  as  $w \to \infty$ . Employing this in (8.5), using the resultant in (8.4), and then simplifying, we arrive at (8.3).

Finally, using (8.3) three times, with n = r, r - 1 and r - 2 to handle the three integrals in (8.2), we obtain (8.1).

**Lemma 8.2.** Let x > 0,  $z \in \mathbb{N}$ , z > 1 and let  $\ell \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . As  $x \to \infty$ ,

$$\psi_{\ell}^{(z-1)}(x) = -\ell! \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{s(z, \ell-r+1)}{r!} \left\{ \sum_{t=0}^{r} \binom{r}{t} \frac{t!}{(z-1)^{t+1}} \frac{\log^{r-t}(x)}{x^{z-1}} + \frac{\log^{r}(x)}{2x^{z}} \right\} + O_{\ell, z} \left( \frac{\log^{\ell}(x)}{x^{\operatorname{Re}(z)+1}} \right), \quad (8.6)$$

where s(a,b) is the Stirling number of the first kind. In particular, as  $x \to \infty$ ,

$$\psi'_{\ell}(x) = \frac{\log^{\ell}(x)}{x} + O_{\ell}\left(\frac{\log^{\ell}(x)}{x^2}\right). \tag{8.7}$$

*Proof.* Equation (8.6) results from using Lemma 8.1 in (7.3) and simplifying. As for (8.7), we let z = 2 in (8.6) and observe that only the terms corresponding to  $r = \ell$  and  $r = \ell - 1$  survive, since s(2, k) = 0 for k > 2. Using the facts that s(2, 1) = -1 and s(2, 2) = 1, this simplifies to

$$\psi'_{\ell}(x) = \frac{\ell!}{x} \left\{ \sum_{t=0}^{\ell} \frac{\log^{\ell-t}(x)}{(\ell-t)!} - \sum_{t=0}^{\ell-1} \frac{\log^{\ell-1-t}(x)}{(\ell-1-t)!} \right\} + O_{\ell} \left( \frac{\log^{\ell}(x)}{x^2} \right) = \frac{\log^{\ell}(x)}{x} + O_{\ell} \left( \frac{\log^{\ell}(x)}{x^2} \right).$$

**Remark 2.** The result in the above lemma can also be obtained by differentiating the Plana-type integral for  $\psi_k(x)$  [32, Theorem 2] and then using the generalization of Watson's lemma given in Theorem 3.2.

8.1. The case  $z \in \mathbb{N}, z > 2$ . We are now ready to prove Theorem 2.11.

Replace m and n by mN and nN respectively in Theorem 2.8, let s(i) = s(z,i) in h(r),  $x = \frac{1}{N} \left( \frac{1}{n} + \frac{1}{m} \right)$ ,  $\frac{m}{n} = \alpha$ ,  $\frac{n}{m} = \beta$ . Then let  $N \to \infty$  and observe from Lemma 8.2 that the resulting infinite series converge. This leads us to (2.15) for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Q}^+$ .

Note that from (7.3),  $\psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)}\left(1+\frac{j}{\alpha}\right)$  is continuous for  $\alpha>0$ . Also,  $\sum\limits_{j=1}^{\infty}\psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)}\left(1+\frac{j}{\alpha}\right)$  is the uniform limit of continuous functions as can be seen from Lemma 8.2. Hence by the uniform limit theorem,  $\sum\limits_{j=1}^{\infty}\psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)}\left(1+\frac{j}{\alpha}\right)$  (and similarly,  $\sum\limits_{j=1}^{\infty}\psi_{\ell-r}^{(z-1)}\left(1+j\alpha\right)$ ) is continuous for  $\alpha>0$ . This implies that (2.15) holds for  $\alpha,\beta>0$ .

8.2. The case z = 2. We begin with obtaining an asymptotic estimate for a summatory function which is used in the sequel.

**Lemma 8.3.** For x, y > 0 and  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , as  $x \to \infty$ , we have

$$\sum_{n \le x} \frac{\log^j(ny)}{n} = \sum_{t=0}^j \binom{j}{t} \log^{j-t}(y) \left( \frac{\log^{t+1}(x)}{t+1} + \gamma_t \right) + O_y \left( \frac{\log^j(x)}{x} \right).$$

*Proof.* For x > 0 and  $m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ ,

$$\sum_{n \le x} \frac{\log^m(n)}{n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \frac{\log^m(n)}{n} - \frac{\log^m(n + \lfloor x \rfloor)}{n + \lfloor x \rfloor} \right)$$

$$= \psi_m(\lfloor x \rfloor + 1) + \gamma_m$$

$$= \frac{\log^{m+1}(x)}{m+1} + \gamma_m + O\left(\frac{\log^m(x)}{x}\right), \tag{8.8}$$

where in the last step, we have used (2.3). We now consider a slightly different finite sum, for y > 0:

$$\sum_{n \le x} \frac{\log^{j}(ny)}{n} = \sum_{n \le x} \frac{(\log(n) + \log(y))^{j}}{n} = \sum_{t=0}^{j} {j \choose t} \log^{j-t}(y) \sum_{n \le x} \frac{\log^{t}(n)}{n}.$$
 (8.9)

Use (8.8) in (8.9) to get

$$\sum_{n \le x} \frac{\log^j(ny)}{n} = \sum_{t=0}^j \binom{j}{t} \log^{j-t}(y) \left( \frac{\log^{t+1}(x)}{t+1} + \gamma_t + O\left(\frac{\log^t(x)}{x}\right) \right),$$

which completes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 2.12. Replace m and n by mN and nN respectively in Theorem 2.8, then let z=2, s(i)=s(2,i) in h(r) to have h(r)=1 for all  $r\in\mathbb{N}\cup\{0\}$ , and let  $x=\frac{1}{N}\left(\frac{1}{n}+\frac{1}{m}\right)$  to obtain

$$\frac{n}{m} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{mN} \psi'_{\ell-r} \left(1 + \frac{nj}{m}\right) \\
= \frac{m}{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{nN} \psi'_{\ell-r} \left(1 + \frac{mj}{n}\right).$$
(8.10)

We cannot let  $N \to \infty$  directly in the above result since that would render the two sums over j divergent. This is now explained.

Differentiate (1.9) with respect to x, invoke (8.7) and then simplify to obtain

$$\psi'_k(1+x) = \frac{\log^k(x)}{x} + O\left(\frac{\log^k(x)}{x^2}\right).$$

This implies that  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \psi'_{\ell-r} \left(1 + \frac{nj}{m}\right)$  diverges. Hence we add and subtract  $\frac{\log^{\ell-r}(\frac{nj}{m})}{\frac{nj}{m}}$  from the summands of the finite sums over j on both sides of (8.10) (so that later we can let  $N \to \infty$ ), and rearrange to obtain

$$\frac{n}{m} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{mN} \left[ \psi'_{\ell-r} \left(1 + \frac{nj}{m}\right) - \frac{\log^{\ell-r} \left(\frac{nj}{m}\right)}{\frac{nj}{m}} \right] \\
- \frac{m}{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{nN} \left[ \psi'_{\ell-r} \left(1 + \frac{mj}{n}\right) - \frac{\log^{\ell-r} \left(\frac{mj}{n}\right)}{\frac{mj}{n}} \right] \\
= \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell} T(m, n, k)}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!}, \tag{8.11}$$

where T(m, n, k) is defined by

$$T(m,n,k) := \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{nN} \frac{\log^{\ell-r}(\frac{mj}{n})}{\frac{mj}{n}} - \left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{mN} \frac{\log^{\ell-r}(\frac{nj}{m})}{\frac{nj}{m}}.$$

Use Lemma 8.3 with x=nN,  $y=\frac{m}{n}$  and  $j=\ell-r$  in the first sum and x=mN,  $y=\frac{n}{m}$  and  $j=\ell-r$  in the second sum, and simplify to obtain

$$T(m, n, k) = (-1)^{k-\ell} \sum_{t=0}^{\ell-r} {\ell-r \choose t} \left[ \log^{k-r-t} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \left\{ \frac{\log^{t+1}(nN)}{t+1} + \gamma_t \right\} - \log^{k-r-t} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \left\{ \frac{\log^{t+1}(mN)}{t+1} + \gamma_t \right\} \right] + O\left( \frac{\log^{\ell-r}(N)}{N} \right).$$
(8.12)

Therefore, using (8.12), we have

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell} T(m,n,k)}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{(-1)^{k-\ell} 2^{\ell}}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} \sum_{t=0}^{\ell-r} {\ell-r \choose t} \left[ \log^{k-r-t} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \left\{ \frac{\log^{t+1}(nN)}{t+1} + \gamma_t \right\} \right] - \log^{k-r-t} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \left\{ \frac{\log^{t+1}(mN)}{t+1} + \gamma_t \right\} \right] + O\left( \frac{\log^k(N)}{N} \right) \\
= f_1(m,n,k) - f_1(n,m,k) + f_2(m,n,k) - f_2(n,m,k) + O\left( \frac{\log^k(N)}{N} \right), \quad (8.13)$$

where

$$f_1(m,n,k) := \sum_{\ell=0}^k \sum_{r=0}^\ell \frac{2^\ell (-1)^{k-\ell}}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} \sum_{t=0}^{\ell-r} {\ell-r \choose t} \log^{k-r-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \left\{ \frac{\log^{t+1}(nN)}{t+1} \right\}, \tag{8.14}$$

$$f_2(m, n, k) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell} (-1)^{k-\ell}}{(k-\ell)! (\ell-r)!} \sum_{t=0}^{\ell-r} {\ell-r \choose t} \log^{k-r-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \gamma_t.$$
 (8.15)

We first simplify  $f_1$ . Consider the inner sum over t, that is,

$$\sum_{t=0}^{\ell-r} {\ell-r \choose t} \log^{k-r-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \frac{\log^{t+1}(nN)}{t+1}$$

$$= \sum_{t=0}^{\ell-r} {\ell-r \choose t} \log^{k-r-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \int_{1}^{nN} \frac{\log^{t}(x)}{x} dx$$

$$= \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \int_{1}^{nN} \frac{1}{x} \sum_{t=0}^{\ell-r} {\ell-r \choose t} \log^{\ell-r-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \log^{t}(x) dx$$

$$= \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \int_{1}^{nN} \log^{\ell-r} \left(\frac{mx}{n}\right) \frac{dx}{x}$$

$$= \frac{\log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{\ell-r+1} \left[\log^{\ell-r+1} (mN) - \log^{\ell-r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)\right]. \tag{8.16}$$

Substitute (8.16) in (8.14) to see that

$$f_1(m, n, k) = \sum_{\ell=0}^k \sum_{r=0}^\ell \frac{2^\ell (-1)^{k-\ell} \log^{k-\ell} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r+1)!} \left[ \log^{\ell-r+1} \left(mN\right) - \log^{\ell-r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \right]$$

$$= f_{11}(m, n, k) + f_{12}(m, n, k), \tag{8.17}$$

where

$$f_{11}(m,n,k) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell}(-1)^{k-\ell} \log^{k-\ell}(\frac{m}{n})}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r+1)!} \log^{\ell-r+1}(mN), \tag{8.18}$$

$$f_{12}(m,n,k) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell} (-1)^{k-\ell+1} \log^{k-r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r+1)!}.$$
(8.19)

We now simplify  $f_{11}$  and  $f_{12}$  separately. Interchange the order of summation in (8.18), then let  $\ell - r = j$  to get

$$f_{11}(m,n,k) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{k-j} \frac{2^{r+j}(-1)^{k-r-j} \log^{k-r-j}(\frac{m}{n})}{(k-r-j)!(j+1)!} \log^{j+1}(mN)$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{k-j} \frac{2^{r+j} \log^{k-r-j}(\frac{n}{m})}{(k-r-j)!(j+1)!} \sum_{s=0}^{j+1} {j+1 \choose s} \log^{s}(N) \log^{j+1-s}(m).$$

Hence,

$$f_{11}(m, n, k) - f_{11}(n, m, k)$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{k-j} \sum_{s=0}^{j+1} \frac{2^{r+j} \left( \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \log^{j+1-s}(m) - \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \log^{j+1-s}(n) \right)}{(k-r-j)!(j+1-s)!s!} \log^{s}(N)$$

is a polynomial of  $\log(N)$  of degree less than or equal to k+1. We now show that the coefficient of  $\log^y(N)$  is zero, for any fixed y such that  $1 \le y \le k+1$ . To that end, note that the terms corresponding to  $j \le y-2$  do not contribute to the coefficient of  $\log^y(N)$ ; thus the coefficient of  $\log^y(N)$  is given by

$$\sum_{j=n-1}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{k-j} \frac{2^{r+j}}{(k-r-j)!(j+1-y)!y!} \left[ \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \log^{j+1-y}(m) - \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \log^{j+1-y}(n) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{y!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-y-1} \sum_{j=y-1}^{k-r} \frac{2^{r+j}}{(k-r-j)!(j+1-y)!} \left[ \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \log^{j+1-y}(m) - \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \log^{j+1-y}(n) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{y!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-y-1} \sum_{t=0}^{k-r-t-y+1} \frac{2^{r+t+y-1}}{(k-r-t-y+1)!t!} \left[ \log^{k-r-t-y+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \log^{t}(m) - \log^{k-r-t-y+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \log^{t}(n) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{y!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-y-1} \frac{2^{r+y-1}}{(k-r-y+1)!} \left[ \left( \log \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) + 2 \log(m) \right)^{k-r-y+1} - \left( \log \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) + 2 \log(n) \right)^{k-r-y+1} \right]$$

$$= 0.$$

where, in the second step above, we employed the change of variable t = j - y + 1. Hence the polynomial  $f_{11}(m, n, k) - f_{11}(n, m, k)$  reduces to the constant

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{k-j} \frac{2^{r+j}}{(k-r-j)!(j+1)!} \left[ \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \log^{j+1}(m) - \log^{k-r-j} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \log^{j+1}(n) \right],$$

which, upon the interchange of the order of summation, and the substitution t = j + 1 results in

$$\sum_{r=0}^{k} \sum_{t=1}^{k-r+1} \frac{2^{r+t-1}}{(k-r-t+1)!t!} \left[ \log^{k-r-t+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \log^{t}(m) - \log^{k-r-t+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \log^{t}(n) \right].$$

Simplifying the above expression in a similar way as in the previous calculation, we see that

$$f_{11}(m,n,k) - f_{11}(n,m,k) = -\sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{2^{k-r-1}}{(r+1)!} \left[ \log^{r+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) - \log^{r+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \right].$$
 (8.20)

We now work on  $f_{12}(m, n, k)$ . Interchange the order of summation in (8.19) and simplify to get

$$f_{12}(m,n,k) = (-1)^{k+1} \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{\log^{k-r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(k-r+1)!} \sum_{\ell=r}^{k} {k-r+1 \choose k-\ell} (-2)^{\ell}.$$

Let  $j = \ell - r$  and then replace r by k - r to have

$$f_{12}(m,n,k) = (-1)^{k+1} \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{\log^{k-r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(k-r+1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{k-r} {k-r+1 \choose k-j-r} (-2)^{j+r}$$

$$= (-1)^{k+1} \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{\log^{r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(r+1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{r} {r+1 \choose r-j} (-2)^{k+j-r}$$

$$= (-1)^{k+1} \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{(-2)^{k-r} \log^{r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(r+1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{r+1} {r+1 \choose r-j} (-2)^{j}$$

$$= (-1)^{k+1} \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{(-2)^{k-r} \log^{r+1} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(r+1)!} \left(\frac{1+(-1)^{r}}{2}\right).$$

Therefore,

$$f_{12}(m,n,k) - f_{12}(n,m,k) = 2\sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{2^{k-r-1}}{(r+1)!} \left[ \log^{r+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) - \log^{r+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \right].$$
 (8.21)

We next proceed to simplify  $f_2(m, n, k)$  defined in (8.15). Interchange the order of summation over r and t and simplify to get

$$f_{2}(m,n,k) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{t=0}^{\ell} \gamma_{t} \frac{2^{\ell}(-1)^{k-\ell}}{(k-\ell)!t!} \log^{k-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{r=0}^{\ell-t} \frac{\log^{-r} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(\ell-r-t)!}$$

$$= \sum_{t=0}^{k} \frac{\gamma_{t}}{t!} \sum_{\ell=t}^{k} \frac{2^{\ell}(-1)^{k-\ell}}{(k-\ell)!} \log^{k-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{r=0}^{\ell-t} \frac{\log^{-r} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(\ell-r-t)!}$$

$$= \sum_{t=0}^{k} \frac{\gamma_{t}}{t!} \sum_{j=0}^{k-t} \frac{2^{j+t}(-1)^{k-j-t}}{(k-j-t)!} \log^{k-t} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{r=0}^{j} \frac{\log^{-r} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right)}{(j-r)!}$$

$$= \sum_{t=0}^{k} \frac{\gamma_{t}}{t!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-t} 2^{t}(-1)^{k-t} \log^{k-t-r} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right) \sum_{j=r}^{k-t} \frac{(-2)^{j}}{(k-j-t)!(j-r)!},$$

where, in the third step above, we let  $j = \ell - t$ . Let  $\ell = j - r$  in the innermost sum above and simplify using the binomial theorem to arrive at

$$f_2(m, n, k) = \sum_{t=0}^k \frac{\gamma_t}{t!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-t} \frac{2^{t+r}}{(k-t-r)!} \log^{k-t-r} \left(\frac{m}{n}\right).$$
 (8.22)

Now substitute (8.17), (8.20), (8.21) and (8.22) in (8.13) and simplify so as to obtain

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{\ell} T(m,n,k)}{(k-\ell)!(\ell-r)!} \\ &= \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{2^{k-r-1}}{(r+1)!} \left[ \log^{r+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) - \log^{r+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{t=0}^{k} \frac{2^{k-r-1}}{t!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-t} \frac{2^{t+r}}{(k-t-r)!} \left[ \log^{k-t-r} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) - \log^{k-t-r} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right] + O\left( \frac{\log^{k}(N)}{N} \right) \\ &= \sum_{r=1}^{k+1} \frac{2^{k-r}}{r!} \left[ \log^{r} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) - \log^{r} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \right] + \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{\gamma_{\ell}}{\ell!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-\ell} \frac{2^{\ell+r} \left( \log^{k-\ell-r} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) - \log^{k-\ell-r} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right)}{(k-\ell-r)!} + O\left( \frac{\log^{k}(N)}{N} \right) \\ &= (\gamma - 1) \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{2^{k-r}}{r!} \left[ \log^{r} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) - \log^{r} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right] - \frac{\left( \log^{k+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) - \log^{k+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right)}{2(k+1)!} \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \frac{\gamma_{\ell}}{\ell!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-\ell} \frac{2^{k-r}}{r!} \left[ \log^{r} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) - \log^{r} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right] + O\left( \frac{\log^{k}(N)}{N} \right) \\ &= \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{a_{\ell}}{\ell!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-\ell} \frac{2^{k-r}}{r!} \left[ \log^{r} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) - \log^{r} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right] - \frac{\left( \log^{k+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) - \log^{k+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right)}{2(k+1)!} + O\left( \frac{\log^{k}(N)}{N} \right), \end{split}$$
 (8.23)

where

$$a_{\ell} := \begin{cases} \gamma - 1 & \text{if } \ell = 0, \\ \gamma_{\ell} & \text{if } \ell > 0. \end{cases}$$

From (8.11), (8.23), letting  $N \to \infty$ , rearranging and simplifying, we arrive at

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{1}{\ell!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-\ell} \frac{1}{r!} \left\{ \frac{n(-1)^{\ell} 2^{k-\ell}}{m} \log^{\ell} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \psi_r' \left( 1 + \frac{nj}{m} \right) - \frac{\log^{r} \left( \frac{nj}{m} \right)}{\frac{nj}{m}} \right) + a_{\ell} 2^{k-r} \log^{r} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right) \right\} - \frac{\log^{k+1} \left( \frac{n}{m} \right)}{2(k+1)!}$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} \frac{1}{\ell!} \sum_{r=0}^{k-\ell} \frac{1}{r!} \left\{ \frac{m(-1)^{\ell} 2^{k-\ell}}{n} \log^{\ell} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \psi_r' \left( 1 + \frac{mj}{n} \right) - \frac{\log^{r} \left( \frac{mj}{n} \right)}{\frac{mj}{n}} \right) + a_{\ell} 2^{k-r} \log^{r} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right) \right\} - \frac{\log^{k+1} \left( \frac{m}{n} \right)}{2(k+1)!}.$$

Let  $\frac{n}{m} = \alpha$  and  $\frac{m}{n} = \beta$  to finally obtain (2.16) for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Q}^+$ . Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 2.11, we see that the result holds for  $\alpha, \beta > 0$ .

## 9. Concluding remarks

The results of this paper together fulfill the objective of deriving modular relations of two types for the generalized digamma functions  $\psi_k(x)$  and their higher derivatives - one involving infinite series of  $\psi_j^{(m)}(x), 0 \le j \le k, k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}, m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\},$  and the other involving finite sums of these functions. It is quite pleasing to know that none of these identities have lost their symmetrical nature.

The ones of the first type, that is, those involving infinite series, can be obtained from the second in the following way. We demonstrate this by deriving Theorem 2.1 from Theorem 2.5. Replace m and n by mN and nN respectively in Theorem 2.5 and let  $x=\frac{1}{N}\left(\frac{1}{m}+\frac{1}{n}\right)$ . Subtract the requisite number of terms from the asymptotic expansion of  $\psi_{\ell}$  to make the series involving  $\psi_{\ell}$  convergent upon letting  $N\to\infty$ . Finally, let  $\alpha=m/n$  and  $\beta=n/m$  and use analytic continuation to derive Theorem 2.1 for  $\mathrm{Re}(\alpha)>0$  and  $\mathrm{Re}(\beta)>0$ . However, this method can give us only the modular relation, not the integral involving the Riemann  $\Xi$ -function linked to it. See, for example, Theorem 2.2. This linkage is extremely useful, for example, Hardy's proof [29] of the infinitude of the non-trivial zeros of  $\zeta(s)$  on the critical line - a first ever result of its kind - crucially employs the following result

$$\sqrt{\alpha} \left( \frac{1}{2\alpha} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-\pi\alpha^2 n^2} \right) = \sqrt{\beta} \left( \frac{1}{2\beta} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-\pi\beta^2 n^2} \right) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{\infty} \frac{\Xi(t/2)}{1+t^2} \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}t\log\alpha\right) dt.$$

This is why we derive Theorem 2.1 from equation (2.1) as well. The reason we give the  $\Xi$ -function integral corresponding to only the modular relation in Theorem 2.2 and not for the general one in Theorem 2.1 is because, in general, it is complicated in appearance. In principle, however, one can explicitly write it down.

Another way to derive the first equality in Theorem 2.2 could be to use the Kloosterman representation for  $\psi(x) + \frac{1}{2x} - \log(x)$  [36, p. 201, formula 5.74] and its analogue

$$\psi_1(x) + \frac{\log(x)}{2x} - \frac{1}{2}\log^2(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{d-i\infty}^{d+i\infty} \frac{\pi\zeta(1-s)}{\sin(\pi s)} (\gamma - \log(x) + \psi(s)) x^{-s} ds,$$

where d = Re(s) > 1, which can be derived from [3, Theorem 3.3]. However, this is not a Mellin transform, rather a sum of two, which makes the derivation of the first equality in Theorem 2.2 difficult this way.

One might as well derive Theorem 2.2 by starting with  $\mathscr{I}(\alpha)$  and showing it to be equal to  $\mathscr{F}_1(\alpha)$  or  $\mathscr{F}_1(\beta)$  as done, for example, with the  $\Xi$ -function integrals in [17] although this looks difficult and unnatural because of the form of the integral. Moreover, it is unclear why it leads us to an interesting representation in terms of infinite series of  $\psi$  and  $\psi_1$ . It was only because of the availability of (2.1) that we were able to get to the integral in this form.

We remark that Theorems 2.1, 2.2 are actually valid for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathfrak{D}'$ , where  $\mathfrak{D}'$  is defined in (1.1). This is now justified. From [32, Equations (2.8), (2.11)], we have

$$\psi_j(x) + \frac{\log^j(x)}{2x} - \frac{\log^{j+1}(x)}{j+1} = (-1)^{j+1} \int_0^\infty e^{-xt} \left( \frac{1}{e^t - 1} - \frac{1}{t} + \frac{1}{2} \right) S_{j+1}(t) dt, \tag{9.1}$$

where  $S_j(t) := \sum_{m=0}^{j-1} a_{j,m} \log^m(t)$ , where, with  $a_{1,0} = 1$  and  $a_{j,j-1} = 1$ ,  $a_{j,m}$  are recursively defined by  $a_{j,m} = -\sum_{r=0}^{j-2} {j-1 \choose r} \Gamma^{(j-r-1)}(1) a_{r+1,m}, 0 \le m \le j-2$ . Employing the extension of Watson's lemma given in [44, p. 14, Theorem 2.2] with the choice of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  in this extension to be  $\alpha = -\pi/2$  and  $\beta = \pi/2$ , and the fact that  $\psi_j(x)$  is analytic in  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ , we see that (2.3) holds for  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ . (For j = 1, this has been done in [3, Theorem 3.2].) Hence the series in Theorems 2.1 and (2.2) are analytic functions of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  in this region. Thus, the results hold for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathfrak{D}'$ . Also, the  $\Xi$ -function integral in Theorem 2.2

is analytic, as a function of  $\alpha$ , in  $\mathfrak{D}'$ , as can be seen by invoking (3.1), elementary bounds on zeta and hyperbolic functions. It should also be possible to extend Theorems 2.11 and 2.12 for  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathfrak{D}'$ , however, that would require first extending Lemma 8.2 for  $x \in \mathfrak{D}'$ .

It would be fascinating to see if there is a  $\Xi$ -function integral linked to the modular relations in Theorems 2.11 and 2.12. We have no idea how the form of such integral would be, if at all it exists.

It can be seen that the first equality of (2.1) is valid in the more general region  $\text{Re}(z) > 0, z \neq 2$ . The restriction 0 < Re(z) < 2 has to be put only when we consider modular relation along with the  $\Xi(t)$ -function integral. It would be interesting to use (2.1) with  $z = 2 + it, t \neq 0$  and  $\alpha \neq \beta$  to prove  $\zeta(1+it) \neq 0$ . It is, of course, well-known that the latter is equivalent to the prime number theorem.

Recently, Darses and Hillion [15] applied an identity of Ramanujan [41, Equation (22)] involving the integral in (1.11) towards obtaining closed-form identities for the polynomial moments with a weighted zeta square measure on the critical line. This certainly merits a similar study of the integral in (2.7).

Finally, it would be definitely worth seeing number-theoretic/combinatorial applications of Theorem 2.7 different from what we have shown here.

## Acknowledgements

The authors thank Projesh Nath Choudhury of IIT Gandhinagar for informing them about the reference [35]. The first author is supported by the Swarnajayanti Fellowship grant SB/SJF/2021-22/08 of SERB (Govt. of India). The first and second authors are supported by the SERB ECR Grant ECR/2015/000070. They sincerely thank these agencies for the support. All of the authors thank IIT Gandhinagar for supporting their research.

### References

- [1] T. M. Apostol, Introduction to analytic number theory, Springer Science+Business Media, New York, 1976.
- [2] T. M. Apostol, Formulas for higher derivatives of the Riemann zeta function, Math. Comp. 44 no. 169 (1985), 223–232.
- [3] S. Banerjee, A. Dixit and S. Gupta, Lambert series of logarithm, the derivative of Deninger's function R(z) and a mean value theorem for  $\zeta(1/2-it)\zeta'(1/2+it)$ , submitted for publication.
- [4] B. C. Berndt, On the Hurwitz zeta function, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 2 (1972), 151–157.
- [5] B. C. Berndt, Ramanujan's notebooks, Part I, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1985.
- [6] B. C. Berndt and A. Dixit, A transformation formula involving the Gamma and Riemann zeta functions in Ramanujan's Lost Notebook, The Legacy of Alladi Ramakrishnan in the Mathematical Sciences, K. Alladi, J. Klauder, C. R. Rao, Eds, Springer, New York, 2010, pp. 199–210.
- [7] I. V. Blagouchine, A theorem for the closed-form evaluation of the first generalized Stieltjes constant at rational arguments and some related summations, J. Number Theory 148 (2015), 537–592.
- [8] L. Carlitz, Some finite analogues of the Poisson summation formula, Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. (2) 12 (1961), 133–138.
- [9] L. Carlitz, Some generalized multiplication formulas for Bernoulli polynomials and related functions, Monatsh. Math. 66 (1962), 1–8.
- [10] T. Chatterjee and S. S. Khurana, Shifted Euler constants and a generalization of Euler-Stieltjes constants, J. Number Theory 204 (2019), 185–210.
- [11] M. W. Coffey, Series representations for the Stieltjes constants, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 44 No. 2 (2014), 443-477.
- [12] E. T. Copson, Theory of Functions of a Complex Variable, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1935.
- [13] C. Deninger, On the analogue of the formula of Chowla and Selberg for real quadratic fields, J. Reine Angew. Math. 351 (1984), 171–191.
- [14] K. Dilcher, On generalized gamma functions related to the Laurent coefficients of the Riemann zeta function, Aequationes Math. 48 (1994), 55–85.
- [15] S. Darses and E. Hillion, Polynomial moments with a weighted zeta square measure on the critical line, arXiv preprint (arXiv:2209.10990), 2022.
- [16] A. Dixit, Analogues of a transformation formula of Ramanujan, Int. J. Number Theory 7(5) (2011), 1151–1172.
- [17] A. Dixit, Transformation formulas associated with integrals involving the Riemann Ξ-function, Monatsh. Math. 164, No. 2 (2011), 133–156.
- [18] A. Dixit, Modular-type transformations and integrals involving the Riemann Ξ-function, Math. Student 87 Nos. 3–4 (2018), 47–59.
- [19] A. Dixit, R. Gupta and R. Kumar, Extended higher Herglotz functions I. Functional equations, submitted for publication.
- [20] A. Dixit and R. Kumar, Superimposing theta structure on a generalized modular relation, Res. Math. Sci. 8 (2021), no. 3, Paper No. 41, 83 pp.

- [21] A. Dixit and R. Kumar, A modular relation involving a generalized digamma function and asymptotics of some integrals containing Ξ(t), Hardy-Ramanujan J. 45 (2022), 140–151.
- [22] A. Dixit and V. H. Moll, Self-reciprocal functions, powers of the Riemann zeta function and modular-type transformations, J. Number Theory 147 (2015), 211–249.
- [23] A. Dixit, A. Roy and A. Zaharescu, Error functions, Mordell integrals and an integral analogue of a partial theta function, Acta Arith. 177 No. 1 (2017), 1–37.
- [24] A. Dixit and A. Zaharescu, Ramanujan's paper on Riemann's functions  $\xi(s)$  and  $\Xi(t)$  and a transformation from the Lost Notebook, to appear in Ramanujan: His Life, Legacy, and Mathematical Influence, Springer.
- [25] I. S. Gradshteyn and I. M. Ryzhik, eds., Table of Integrals, Series, and Products, 8th ed., Edited by D. Zwillinger, V. H. Moll, Academic Press, New York, 2015.
- [26] A. P. Guinand, A note on the logarithmic derivative of the Gamma function, Edinburgh Math. Notes 38 (1952), 1-4.
- [27] A. P. Guinand, Some finite identities connected with Poisson's summation formula, Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. (2) 12 (1960), 17–25.
- [28] R. Gupta and R. Kumar, Extended higher Herglotz functions II, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 518 no. 2 (2023), Paper No. 126720 (16 pages).
- [29] G. H. Hardy, Sur les zéros de la fonction  $\zeta(s)$  de Riemann, Comptes Rendus 158 (1914), 1012–1014.
- [30] G. H. Hardy, Note by Mr. G.H. Hardy on the preceding paper, Quart. J. Math. 46 (1915), 260-261.
- [31] M. Ishibashi and S. Kanemitsu, Dirichlet series with periodic coefficients, Res. Math. 35 (1999), 70–88.
- [32] M. Ishibashi, Laurent coefficients of the zeta function of an indefinite quadratic form, Acta Arith. 106 No. 1 (2003), 59-71.
- [33] S. Kanemitsu, On evaluation of certain limits in closed form, Théorie des nombres (Quebec), 459–474, de Gruyter, Berlin, 1989.
- [34] A. Languasco and L. Righi, A fast algorithm to compute the Ramanujan-Deninger gamma function and some number-theoretic applications, Math. Comp. 90 No. 332 (2021), 2899–2921.
- [35] M. Merca, A generalization of the symmetry between complete and elementary symmetric functions, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 45(1) (2014), 75–89.
- [36] F. Oberhettinger, Tables of Mellin Transforms, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1974.
- [37] O. Oloa, On a series of Ramanujan, in: Gems in Experimental Mathematics, T. Amdeberhan and V. H. Moll (eds.), Contemp. Math. 517, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010, 305–311.
- [38] F. W. J. Olver, D. W. Lozier, R. F. Boisvert and C. W. Clark, eds., NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2010.
- [39] F.W.J. Olver, Asymptotics and Special Functions, Academic Press, New York, 1974.
- [40] M. Prévost, Expansion of generalized Stieltjes constants in terms of derivatives of Hurwitz zeta-functions, submitted for publication, arXiv:2305.15806, 25 May, 2023.
- [41] S. Ramanujan, New expressions for Riemann's functions  $\xi(s)$  and  $\Xi(s)$ , Quart. J. Math. 46 (1915), 253–260.
- [42] S. Shirasaka, On the Laurent coefficients of a class of Dirichlet series, Result. Math. 42 (2002), 128–138.
- [43] N. M. Temme, Special functions: An introduction to the classical functions of mathematical physics, Wiley-Interscience Publication, New York, 1996.
- [44] N. M. Temme, Asymptotic Methods for Integrals, Series in Analysis, Vol. 6, World Scientific, Singapore, 2015.
- [45] E. C. Titchmarsh, The Theory of the Riemann Zeta-function, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1986.
- [46] S. Tyagi, High precision computation and a new asymptotic formula for the generalized Stieltjes constants, submitted for publication, arXiv:2212.0795v1, 15 Dec. 2022.
- [47] K. S. Williams and N.-Y. Zhang, Some results on the generalized Stieltjes constants, Analysis 14 (1994), 147–162.
- [48] R. Wong and M. Wyman, A generalization of Watson's lemma, Canad. J. Math. 24 No. 2 (1972), 185–208.

DISCIPLINE OF MATHEMATICS, INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY GANDHINAGAR, PALAJ, GANDHINAGAR, GUJARAT-382355, INDIA

Email address: adixit@iitgn.ac.in; gurusharan.n@iitgn.ac.in; sumukha.s@iitgn.ac.in